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the old house of Murroes. The church is a small, plain, but neat structure,
with four pointed windows to the south, a cross on the east gable, a handsome
belfrey on the west gable, and an aisle on the north. The present church was
erected in 1648, and the church and graveyard are enclosed by a wall, within
which are several old trees. The graveyard might, at little cost, be better laid
out than at present. The jougs are fixed into the south wall of the church.
Over the door on the west wall of the aisle leading to the family pew, an old
stone is inserted into the wall, with the Fothringham and Gibson arms, and
the letters T. F. : M. G. under them, and date 1642 over the arms. The
initials are those of Thomas Fothringham and Agnes Gibson, his wife, who
was a daughter of Sir Alexander Gibson, Lord Durie. On a slab within the
church are the names of the same laird and lady, also seven shields labelled
with the names, and charged with the arms respectively of FoTHRINGHAM,
GiprsonE, CRAIGE, Lyxpsay, ScorTk, iRTHE, HERIT. A stone on which is
a mutilated figure, holding a shield with the Fothringham arms, is built
into the enclosing wall of the graveyard, on the north of the church. The
burial vault of the Fothringhams of Powrie is upon the north side of the
church.

The injunction ora et labora (pray and labour) is carved over the east door
of the church, and that of Laus et honor Deo (Praise and honour be to God)
is over the west door. Upon the south wall of the church there is a stone panel
thus inscribed :—A.D. 1848. Christo, Luci munds, et humance salutis Auclors
heec edes consecrata est : 1. 1. C., the initials of John Irvine Currie, who
was then minister of the parish. (This church was consecrated to Christ,
the Light of the World, and the author of human salvation, in the year of Our
Lord, 1848.) Many old gravestones are set up against the wall of the church-
yard, but so far as we could see, there is nothing remarkable about any of
them. A comfortable manse, with offices, stands a little to the north of the
church.

The parish of Murroes is about three miles in length, and generally about
two miles in breadth, but the figure is irregular. It is bounded by Inverarity
and Monikie on the north, Monifieth on the east, Dundee and Mains on the
gouth, and Mains and Tealing on the west. It contains 5304527 acres, ot
which 6968 are water. There is little level land in the parish, the greater
part being undulating, and in some parts the acclivity is considerable. Much
of the soil is of excellent quality, and with good husbandry large crops of
grain, &c., of excellent quality are reaped. The small siream Fithie runs




Cmar. XLVIII] ANGUS IN PARISHES—MURROES. 3

through the parish. Part ofits course is in a finely-wooded, deep, and
picturesque den, having the stately mansion of Duntrune high up above the
water on its left bank, and the fine old ruin of Ballumbie Castle, and the hand-
some modern house in close proximity thereto, on its right bank at the lower
end of the den. Good, trimly-kept walks have been made through the den on
the Ballumbie side. ~ The foliage of the trees shut out the sunshine, and the
cool shade, gentle murmuring of the water, and the song of the birds make a
walk through the den very enjoyable.

A table-shaped stone at the west end of the church had been erected in
memory of Alexander Edward, citizen of Dundee, who died 22d May, 1667,
aged 67. He was the father of Robert Edward, who was presented ““to the
paroche kirk of Murrays, personage and viccarage thereof,” by Patrick, Earl
of Panmure, 8th March, 1648.

In Vol. I1., p.p. 233-4, we made some references to the Rev. Robert Edward,
minister of Murroes, his description of Angus, and the map which accom-
panied it.

In the Monifieth Session Records it is stated that on 16th January, 1676,
Mr Robert Edward, minister of Murroes, and moderator of the Presbytery of
Dundee, preached in the forenoon, when Mr John Dempster was admitted
minister of Monifieth, Mr Edward baptised children of Mr Dempster in 1677
and 1678, and is not again mentioned. It was in the latter year that his de-
scription of Angus was published.

In Nicholson’s Scottish Historical Library (1702), p. 56, it is said *“ Angus
has been elegantly described in a pure Latin style by Mr Robert Edward,

who also drew an excellent map of the county. Both the description
and the map are published by the Jansons.” For this information the author
is indebted to the Rev. R. R. Lingard-Guthrie.

From a dispute which arose between Rev. Robert Edward, minister of
Murroes, regarding the teinds of Ballumbie, it appears that 40s were paid * for
evrie pleughe ” upon the two Powries, the two Gagies, Westhall, and Brichtie.
Mr Edward could therefore see “ no reason how Ballumbie can be exempted
from paying vicarage according as the rest of the pleughes of the parioche.
He closes his note of “ Information ” upon the subject by stating that * seavin
chalders victuall to be the constant and perpetual stipend of the said Kirk of
Murroes in all tyme coming, by and attoure the vicarage tiends of the said
parish, ipsa corpora, and twentie ‘merks yearlie, furth of the tack dutie and
tiends of the lands of Ballumbie, according to the decreitt of the platt in anno
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1618.” The lands of Ballumbie pay for stipend the fixed sum of £12 4s 8d
yearly, instead of a sum varying with the fiars’ price, but how or when this
sum was fixed is not known.

Mr Edward appears to have had considerable means. The valuations of
the shire of Forfar in 1649 and 1653 show that he had two wadsets or bonds,
one of which, over Craichie or Tulloes, he had from the Earl of Strathmore.
He had also considerable sums lent upon the Ballumbie and Powrie estates
until after 1676. The year of his death is not known. He had four sons—
Charles, who was appointed conjunct with his father, but left before 27th
August, 1692 ; John, who was tutor to Sir James Fleming’s son, had an as-
signation of the stipend of Murroes in 1696 from the Earl of Panmure, as there
had been no minister there for several years past; Robert, who was rabbled
out of his own church, and was recommended, 27th August, 1692, to supply
Murroes, by the Bishop ; and Alexander, minister of Kemback, and deprived
as a non-juror.

Alexander Edward, son of Mr Robert Edward, minister at Murroes, notes
many passing events in his original notebook at Panmure House. The fol-
lowing are two of his notes :—1677, June 21,—This day Jean Fothringham
was married with John Carnegie of Boysack.

Jan. 23,1678. . . . —Preached at Barr. This night sat up with good,
frugal, old, dieing Duntroon, of age 86 years, of which seikness, a feaver, he
died in five days. He was mervelusly vigories as to his age; two weeks
befor, he road to Edenburg.  He never lost on of his teeth throg age, nor
weir a westcot in the night, nor neided spectikle to read the smallest print;
and just eight days befor him died, William Brock in Dondie, my father’s
cusin-german, being 79 years of age (H. of C. of 8., Pref. XVIIL).

A weem or Pict’s house was discovered in the year 1870. It was of the
form commonly found, and about 36 feet in length, and the converging
walls were constructed of pavement stones similar to the pavement now
obtained in Gagie quarry. There was little of much importance found in the
weemn.

The heritors of Murroes appear to have had little regard for the educational
wants of the parish in the early part of last century, the parish being without
school or schoolhouse in 1724, and the minister, Rev. Mr Mair, was compelled
to petition the Commissioners of Supply to erect these necessary buildings, and
to “ modify a salary” for David Crombie, the schoolmaster. They named a
sum for the building, and seftled a hundred merks Scots, or £5 11s 13id
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sterling as “a competent salary” for the teacher yearly, but it was long there-
after before the buildings were erected (E. & J., 1., p. 126).

Agriculture had been in a backward state at the end of last century. The
Rev. Alexander Imlach, who wrote the old Statistical Account of the parish in
1794, says that more money had been made in Murroes by farming during the
previous thirty years than for two hundred years before ; and he adds that the
farmers “even use some of the luxuries of life” Since he wrote wonderful
progress has been made in agriculture in the parish.

The family of Lovel were of Norman origin, and their first residence was at
Hawick, where they owned land in the twelfth century. In the early part of
the following century they appear to have left Hawick and come to Ballumbie.
Thomas de Lovel is a witness to the foundation charter of the Hospital of
Brechin in 1267. On 3d September, 1296, Eva, widow of Robert Lovel, did
homage to Edward I. for lands in Forfarshire and other counties. In 1328
Sir Hugh Lovel, knight, is a witness to Henry of Rossy’s charter of the lands
of Inieney to Walter of Schaklock. James Lovel was one of the barons of
Angus who fell at Harlaw in 1411. Richard Lovel of Ballumbie is a witness
to a wadset by the Master of Crawford, granted to Sir Thomas Maule, of the
lands of Cambustown, in 1425-6. Richard’s son, Alexander, married Catherine
Douglas, daughter of Sir William Douglas of Lochleven, who was Maid of
Honour to Queen Joanne, In the Convent of Blackfriars at Perth, on the
night between the 20th and 21st February, 1436-7, when the Earl of Athole and
the other conspirators murdered King James the First, Catherine, with a spirit
worthy of her name, on hearing the approach of the regicides, and to give the
King more time to escape, finding no bar to put into the staple, she thrust in
her arm instead, and it was broken by the forcing open of the door.

Richard Lovel was a witness on 16th May, 1448, and one of the assize at
the perambulation of the marches between the lands of Balnamoon and those
of the Cathedral of Brechin, on 13th October, 1450. In 1463 Alexander,
Earl of Crawford, gave to Richard Lovel and Elizabeth Douglas, his wife, a
charter of the lands of Murroes. In it the Earl calls her his oye (grandchild).
Their daughter and heiress, Janet Lovel, was married to Sir Robert Graham
of Fintry; and Douglas says (IL, p. 271) their lineal descendant, Robert
Graham of Fintry, carries the three piles of Lovel in his arms in consequence
of that alliance. Alexander Lovel was, about 1478, one of an assize upon the
lands and goods belonging to Walter Ogilvy of Owers.
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In 1490 the Duke of Montrose was found to have done *wrang in the
eiecioun and outputting of Alexander Lovale of Ballumy, out of the landis of
Bischopkers, liand in the barony of Roskowby, and vexing of him there intill.”
Henry, the son of Alexander who was wronged by the Duke, was knighted.
In 1536 he prosecuted Patrick, Tiord Gray, for an act of “ stouthreif and op-
pression ” done to him on 20th January ““in the occupation of his fishing of
Dundervisheide, in the water of Tay, lying to the east of the Castle of
Bruchty” Sir Henry died about 1550. After the death of Sir Henry, Lady
Lovel, not being able to produce a valid title to the fishings, had to restore
them and make other satisfaction to Lord Gray. Sir Heunry was succeeded by
his son and heir, Andrew Lovall. His son Henry succeeded. On 8th August,
1572, Henry and his son, “ John Lovell, ffear of Ballumbie,” were charged with
non-appearance before the Regent and Council, when it is stated that the father
“was denounced rebel, and at the horn, and therefor put in ward, and there-
after delivered to my Lord Treasurer to be kept in sure firmness and custody.”

On 23d January, 1572-3, Patrick, Lord Gray, was charged to “ underly the
law for resset and intercommuning with Henry Lovell of Ballumbie, Patrick
and David Lovell, his sons, and others, being denounced rebels, and at the horn,”
when his Lordship was vnlawit for non-appearance. The family had probably
failed in females, as the last notice of them is in 1607, when Sybilla and
Mariota Lovell were served heirs portioners to their father, James Lovell, in
the lands and fishings of West Ferry, and the Vasteruik, alias Kilcraig, on the
north of the Tay. These may be the lands and fishings now belonging to the Earl
of Dalhousie. Iu 1571, the year before Henry Lovell was “ put in ward ” and
“kept in sure firmness,” he appears to have disposed of the dominical lands, or
Mains of Ballumbie, to Sir Thomas Liyon of Albar, who had charters of them
on 18th September, 1571. He had not retained the lands long, as on 22d
Anugust, 1583, Gilbert, third son of Patrick, third Lord Gray, bad a charter of
the lands of Ballumbie.

In the end of the fifteenth and throughout the sixteenth centuries many
members of the Lovell family were burgesses and magistrates of Dundee, and
James Lovell was Dean of Guild during the years 1566-69.

On 12th August, 1601, a charter of the lands of Ballumbie, Barry, and In-
nerpeffer was obtained by James Elphinstone, first Lord of Balmerino, Secre-
tary of State to King James VI. He also possessed considerable lands in
Monifieth, as detailed in the chapter on that parish.

It is told of John, seccond Lord Balmerino, who in 1641 was President of



Cmar. XLVIIL] ANGUS IN PARISHES.—MURROES. 7

Parliament, that, suspecting his father had made too advantageous a purchase
of the lands of Ballumbie, he, of his own accord, gave ten thousand merks to
the heir of that estate, by way of compensation. This is a noble traift in
the character of his Lordship, and a rare instance of sterling justice.  He
thought, very likely correctly, that his father had taken an undue advantage of
the seller, arising out of his necessities, and the large compensation given in-
ferred that the heir had been cheated to a large extent. The Lords Balmerino
had not retained Ballumbie long. In a note at the end of this volume we
propose to refer to this honourable conduct of Lord Balmerino, and contrast it
with the acts of some other parties.

In 1662, George, second Karl of Panmure, was served heir to his father,
Patrick, first Earl of Panmure, in the teinds and superiority of the lands of Bal-
lumbie. On hisdeath in 1671 his son George succeeded as third Earl. Shortly
after that date Ballumbie became the property of the Hon. James Maule,
brother of Earl George, as, in 1674 and subsequently, he was designed of that
barony, and he is included in Edward’s list of the barons of Angus in 1678.
On the death of Earl George on st February, 1686, Earl James succeeded to
the Earldom of Panmure.

The lands and barony of Ballumbie remained in the family of the Maules,
but they do not appear to have been forfeited in 1716 and bought back by
Earl William in 1764, as stated by Mr Jervise. They seem to have come
into possession of the family of the Hon. Harry Maule of Kelly, as they be-
longed to James Maule, his eldest son, who died on 16th April, 1729. William
Maule, bis immediate younger brother and heir, succeeded to the estate, and
service was expede before the Sheriff of Forfar, 25th September, 1729, precept
following for infefting William Maule in the property, 22d October, and sasine
on 3d November, 1729.

The estate continued in the Panmure family down to April, 1804, when the
Hon. William Maule of Panmure sold it to David Miller, who was a tenant farmer.
He erected the present mansionhouse in 1810. He was succeeded by his son,
John Miller. In January, 1847, the trustees of the late William M‘Gavin,
merchant in Dundee, purchased the property from John Miller's trustees.
The property was acquired from his father’s trustees by Robert M‘Gavin, and
he is the present proprietor of Ballumbie.

The ruins of Ballumbie Castle stand on an eminence on the right bank of
the Fithie, a small stream which rises on the southern slopes of the Sidlaws,
and falls into the Dighty at Ballunie. ¥or a mile or two in its course it runs
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through a beautiful and picturesque den within the policies of Ballumbie and
Duntrune. The castle occupies a fine position near the lower end of the den.
It is mentioned by Monipennie in his Scots Chronicles, 1612, p. 169 ; also by
Ochterlony in the following terms :—* Balumbie, the Earl of Panmure’s second
brother’s designation, ane old, ruinous, demolished house, but is a very
pleasant place.” The castle appears to have consisted of a large square
building, with lofty circular towers at the angles, and an open court within.
The remains consist of the south, east, and part of the north walls, and the
circular towers, which are still entire for a height, on the average, of fully 20
feet.

The square has been re-formed by a modern building on the west, and part
of the north and south walls, which had been destroyed, and the restored castle
is turned to utilitarian purposes. The proprietor has had the old walls,
where exposed, carefully cleaned and pointed, but considerable portions of
them are richly clad with ivy, which grows luxuriantly, and they are likely
to stand for ages, as the fine run lime, with which they had been originally
built, binds the whole into a solid mass, from which it is all but impossible to
remove a stone.

Bullumbie Castle, when entire, had been a noble building. It has some of
the characteristics of Edzell and Dunnottar Castles, and the ruins yet testify to
its ancient grandeur. The castle was erected in or about 1545 by the Lovells,
the old proprietors of the estate. The walls are loopholed, as was customary and
necessary for the protection of its lords at, and for long after it was built. At the
junction of the south-eastern tower with the east wall there is a small semi-
circular projection connected with hoth tower and wall, which, on being
minutely examined, was found to be a conduit running into a drain, which
was traced to its outlet into the Fithie, at some distance south-east of the
castle. 'This shows that sanitary matters were not neglected by the builders of
the castle.

On the top of the east wall of the castle, the lintel of the Church of Ballumbie
has been laid by the present Laird. On it are the initals H.L. and I.S. The
Lovell arms and those of another party, perhaps of the family of his wife, are
between the initials. - Underneath the initials are what appears to be letters in
the old English character. Below this stone is another, on which is a crown
with the Lovell arms underneath it, below which is the letter L. On the east
wall another stone from the church has been built., It is dissected by two
horizontal lines, dividing it into three parts. Two perpendicular lines divide
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the two lower spaces into three parts each. In the upper three there appear
to be some old English letters in each, with, perhaps, armorial bearings
in each of the three lower compartments ; but the stone is high up in the wall,
and the figures partly obliterated, so that we are unable to say definitely what
is upon the stone. ,

The modern mansionhouse of Ballumbie is a large, handsome, commodious
house of three floors, It stands at a short distance south-east from the castle,
on an elevated site, and having an extensive view in some directions, especially
to the south.  The grounds around the mansion are tastefully laid out, and
there is a profusion of fine shrubbery and many noble old trees. A little to
the west of the house there is a very large ash, which local tradition says was
planted by Grizzel Jaffray, who was tried and executed for witchcraft in the
Seagate, Dundee, between the 11th and 23d November, 1669. The tree, at
six feet above the surface of the ground, measures fifteen feet in circumference,
and is of great height. There are several other very large old trees, beech,
plane, &ec., in the grounds, and other large, handsome trees of various sorts,
though not so old or great as are the aged giants.

William M‘Gavin, merchant in Dundee, married Margaret, daughter of
James Lindsay, merchant in Dundee, by whom he had a family of sons and
daughters, the only survivor being Robert, proprietor of the barony of Bal-
lumbie, Baldovie, Drumgeith, and part of Craigie. William M‘Gavin died 1st
December, 1843, and Mrs M‘Gavin on 10th December, 1868. Robert is a J.P.
and Commissioner of Supply for the County of Forfar.

ARMORIAL BEARINGS OF ROBERT M‘GAVIN OF BALLUMBIE.

Arms.—Per pale gules and azure, a boar’s head couped, or; on a chief indented argent,
three fleurs-de-lis, of the first.

Crest.—A wyvern’s head issuant, vert, vomiting flames of fire, gules.

Motto.—God Send Grace.

The lands of Brichty at an early period belonged to John de la Hay, Lord
of Tillybothwell. He resigned them to John Montealt, Lord of Fern.
Richard of Montealt, Chancellor of the Cathedral of Brechin, disposed of the
lands of Brichty to Sir Alexander Lindsay of Glenesk. The charter is dated
at Innerlunnan on 20th December, 1379, and is witnessed by Sir John Lyon,
knight, Camerario Scocie, or Chamberlain to the King, and his son-in-law, and
by Sir Walter of Ogilvy, Sheriff of Forfar (H. of C. of 8., 493).

The lands remained for some time in the hands of the Lindsays. In 1421
B )
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Euphemia, sister of the first Earl of Crawford, had a liferent therefrom.
Brichty passed from the Lindsays to the Fothringhams and Arbuthnotts. In
1450 Alexander, Earl of Crawford, gave a charter of Wester Brichty to David
Fothringham of Powrie. Hugh, the son of Robert Arbuthnott of that ilk,
who married the heiress of Balmakewan, was designed of Brichty in the
fifteenth century. John Arbuthnott was one of an assize on 29th April, 1514
(H. of C. of S., 527). The lands of Brichty were subsequently wholly acquired
by the Fothringhams of Powrie, and they now form part of the Powrie estate.

Alexander, Earl of Crawford, gave a grant of 20 merks annually out of his
lands of West Brichty to the Altar of St George the Martyr, in the Church
of St Mary in Dundee. Confirmed by James I., 29th April, 1429, (Reg. Ep.
Br.)

The Earls of Angus were superiors of the lands of Gagie. The lands appear
to have been divided into two parts in early times, each of which was held by
distinct proprietors.  The one portion appears to have been called Gagie or
Easter Gagie, and the other, for a time, Wester Gagie. It is only in a few
cases we can say which of the two we are treating of. In the Valuation Roll
of 1683 Gagie is entered thus :—Easter Gagie, value £100 ; Guthrie or Wester
Gagle, value £183 6s 8d. In 1822 the first is also named ‘ Easter Gagie”
and the“second “ Wester Gagie.”

The Olifers or Olivers were proprietors of the lands of Gagie at an early
period. David Oliver is designed of Gagie in 1457 (Reg. de Aberb.). David
Oliver of Gagie was one of an assize at a retour of service of John Carnegie at
Dundee, 16th May, 1508 (H. of C. of S., 524). He, or another of the same name,
was at a retour of service, 7th May, 1519 (Reg. de Pan, 292.). Gagie passed
from the Olifers to the Sibbalds of Rankeilor, but we have not learned the
date. In 1610 the Sibbalds sold the property to William Guthrie, second son
of Alexander Guthrie of that ilk, and brother of Alexander, who succeeded his
father, Alexander, in Guthrie. William Guthrie acquired Ravensby, in Barry,
from John Cant, on 11th June, 1603, and was designed of Ravensby. He
had a portion of Halton and Milton of Guthrie, 29th December, 1574. He is
said to have married Isabella, daughter of Leslie of Balquhain. The Guthrie
arms are on the lintel of the summerhouse at Gagie, with the date 1614, A
shield on the front of the wall of Gagie house bears the Leslie arms, with the
letters I.L.

On 20th April, 1603, Robert Lundy of Balgonie was served heir to his
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father Robert (No. 34) in the lands of Wester Gagie, in the regality of Kirrie-
muir— A.E. 40s, N.E. £10. The Lundys had held them some time before
the date of that retour.

About the beginning of the 17th century Finlayson, Provost of
Dundee, was designed of Gagie. Walter Lyell, Town Clerk of Montrose, or
his son, married a daughter of Provost Finlayson of Gagie. On 24th March,
1629, Alexander Guthrie, heir of William Guthrie of Wester Gagie, was re-
toured (No, 180) in the town and lands of Wester Gagie. On 4th May, 1647,
Francis Guthrie of Gagie married his cousin, Bathia, daughter of Bishop
Guthrie, who had acquired the estate of Guthrie. Francis died before 4th
April, 1665, as on that day his son John was served heir (No. 412) to his
father in the lands of Wester Gagie ; and in the lands of Guthrie, &c., in right
of his mother, heiress of Bishop Guthrie. The Laird of the estate of Gagie, a
younger branch of the family, thus became the chief of the name of Guthrie.

A stone, having the family arms carved upon it, stood over the old entrance
to, or court-gate of, Gagie. The initials I.G. : T.H. and the date 1737 were
also on the slab.  The initials are those of John Guthrie of that ilk and his
wife, Jean, a daughter of Rev. James Hodge, minister of Longforgan. Their
son became the twelfth Baron Guthrie. The estates of Guthrie and Gagie,
&c., have ever since continued in the chief of the old family of Guthrie of that
ilk. John Guthrie had also two daughters by Jean Hodge. One of them
was married to John Scrymgeour of Tealing, and the other to William Alison,
merchant, Dundee.

The mansionhouse of Gagie is not a large building, but it affords a con-
siderable amount of accommodation, and in its palmy days had been a pleasant
residence. It ison the south or right bank of the Murroes burn, which, there,
is a tiny stream. The site is little if at all above the level of the surround-
ing land, and the view from the house is limited by the situation, and more so
by the stately old trees in its vicinity. The chatean of Gagie bears evidence
that it had been capable of affording some protection to its occupants if at-
tacked by ordinary marauders. A good garden adjoins the mansion, in which
there are four magnificent Irish yews, which form a cluster so close that there
is little room to walk among them, and overhead they run into each other,
forming a dense impervious mass, some thirty feet in height. In front of the
house is a “ loupin’-on-stane,” or steps for assisting one to get on horseback,
This was a necessary adjunct when the laird and lady went to church or market
on the back of one horse, the laird astride a saddle, and the lady on a pillion
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behind him, with her arm round his waist to keep her secure.  This good
homely custom has been long discontinued, and it would surprise the dwellers
in town or county to see a couple so mounted now-a-days.

The lands of Murroes formed part of the territory of the Earls of Angus.
They afterwards came into possession of the Barl of Crawford. In 1473 Alex-
ander, Barl of Crawford, gave Richard Lovell of Ballumbie and his wife,
Elizabeth Douglas, whom the Earl styles “ his oye” (grandchild), a charter of
the lands of Murroes. The lands subsequently came into possession of the
Fothringhams of Powrie. They had a mansion on that property, as well as on
Wester Powrie.  Ochterlony says it was a good house, and a sweet pleasant
place. The lands of Murroes were subsequently acquired by the Guthries,
and they form part of the estate of Gagie, and belong to the trustees of the
late John Guthrie of Guthrie, for behoof of the family of Guthrie. There is
an excellent steading and a good farm house close by the east bank of the
Murroes burn.

Gilbert, third son of Gilebride, second Earl of Angus, got a charter from
King William the Lion, in which he is described as “ Gilbert, son of the Earl
of Angus,” terrarum Powrin, Oguluive, and Kyneithin. There are two
transumpts of this charter in existence, one of the date 14th February, 1577, in
the Fothringham charter chest (Bal. M.S.). The Fothringhams are the present
proprietors of Wester Powrie.  The other, dated 26th July, 1631, is in the
charter chest of Wedderburn of Birkhill, the present proprietor of Easter Powrie.
The latter, which is ¢ under the hands of Sir J. Hamilton of St Magdalen’s,
Clerk Register,” declares that the original charter was torn, and in a perishing
state through age. 'These transumpts show that the original charter is with-
out date, a circumstance common to the time ; indeed, many of King William’s
charters are undated. It was given in the lifetime of Gilbert’s father,
Gilebride, and the best authorities adjudge it to the year 1172. From the
lands of Ogilvy, the family of Gilbert took their surname, the adoption of
surnames coming at this time first into use. ~ The word Ogilvy is variously
spelled in ancient times, but it is the same with most proper names, which, in
the same document, are sometimes spelled in several ways.

The lands of Ogilvy, together with Baster Powrie, passed down from
Gilbert in an unbroken male descent for a period of nearly five hundred
years. The last possessor of them, and last of the family, distinguished as that
of Ogilvy of Ogilvy, chiefs of the name, was Thomas Ogilvy of Ogilvy, or
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Powrie Ogilvy, as he was sometimes called, the devoted adherent and friend of
the Marquis of Montrose, by whose side he fell at the battle of Corbiesdale in
1650 (Bal. MS.).

The lands of Wester Powrie had, at an early period, been granted to a
Malcolm de Powrie. He had probably been a member of the Ogilvy family,
and taken his surname from the lands, and, dying without heir of his body,
they had reverted to Ogilvy of that ilk, the superior. * Alexander de Ogilvyle,
dominus ejusdem,” gave a charter ratifying to his cousin, Walter de Ogilvyle,
son of the late Walter de Ogilvyle, son of the deceased Patrick de
Ogilvyle, his granduncle, the charter of the lands of Wester Powrie, which his
(Alexander’s) father, Patrick (apparently sixth in descent from Gilbert), Lord
of the same, had granted to his uncle Patrick, and Marjory, his wife. This
charter narrates that these lands are to be held under the like feudal conditions
as the late Malcolm de Powrie held the same. There is no date to the charter
by Alexander Ogilvy of Ogilvy, which is confirmed under the Great Seal at
Aberdeen, 2d August, 1428 ; but from the names of the witnesses, it is con-
cluded that it must have been given between the years 1354 and 1359. A full
translation of this charter is in the Inverquharity charter chest.

Regarding the above-mentioned charter, Douglas, Vol. L, p. 28, says:—
¢ Patrick de Ogilvy obtained from his nephew, Sir Patrick Ogilvy of that ilk,
to himself and Marjory, his wife, the lands of Wester Powrie, which were pos-
sessed by the late Malcolm de Powrie. Sir Walter Ogilvy of Lintrathen
ratified to Walter de Ogilvy, grandson of Patrick Ogilvy and Marjory, his
spouse, charter of the lands of Wester Powrie, which had been granted to his
said grandfather and grandmother. It was confirmed, 2d August, 1428, by
charter under the Great Seal.”

In 13334 the third Lord Walter de Ogilvile is mentioned in the Reg. de
Aberb., Vol. L., p. 58. This was probably Walter, second of Wester Powrie,
who married the heiress of Sir Malcolm Ramsay of Auchterhonse, hereditary
Sheriff of Angus, and at whose death, between the years 1365 and 1369, he
succeeded to Auchterhouse and the heritable Sheriffdom of Angus (MS. Bal-
dovan). We do not find Walter Ogilvy in the Reg. de Aberb., but Alex. of
Ogilwill is mentioned, p. 190, 1250 year, and Patricio de Ogilvill is mentioned,
p. 339, circa 1328,

Sir Alexander Ogilvy, Sheriff of Angus, Lord of Auchterhouse, and fourth
and last of Wester Powrie (son of Sir Walter Ogilvy, the Sheriff| slain at the
battle of Glasclune in 1392), sold and conveyed the lands of Powrie Wester to
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Thomas Fothringham in 1412 (M.S.B.). On 28th August, 1428, charter of
ratification by David Ogilvy of Ogilvy, of a charter by Sir Patrick Ogilvy of
Auchterhouse, Sheriff of Angus, and Justiciar to the north of the Forth, con-
firming a charter of Wester Powrie, which Thomas Fothringham acquired in
1412, to be held off John de Ogilvy of Ogilvy. Andrew de Ogilvy, Lord of
Glen, is one of the witnesses to the charter (Foth™ Writs).

On 12th June, 1593, James, Earl of Buchan, heir of Earl John, of Auchter-
house, his great-grandfather, was retoured in the lands of Powrie—A.E. —,
N.E. £12. On 27th August, 1601, Master John Ogilvie of Ogilvie, heir of
Gilbert Ogilvieof Ogilvie, hisfather, was retoured (No.22) in the lands and barony
of Ogilvy, with the mansion and mill of the same, comprehending the lands of
Easter Powrie ; the lands of Wester Powrie—A.E. £18, N.E, £72. On 19th
January, 1610, Gilbert Ogilvy of Ogilvy, heir of Master John Ogilvy of the
same, was retoured (No. 69) in the lands and barony of Ogilvy, comprehend-
ing the lands of Easter Powrie—A.E. £12, N.E. £48; and in lands in other
places. These retours may be of the superiority only.

In the Aldbar Miscellany MS., p. 363, it is said of Powrie Wester,  Alex-
ander Ogilvy, Lord of the same, son of the late Patrick Ogilvy and Marion, his
spouse, sold the lands of Wester Powrie and mill between 1354 and 1358.”
In the Genealogy of the Wedderburns, p. 106, it is said of same lands, of
Powrie Wester :—¢ This property was acquired in marriage with a daughter
of Ogilvy of Auchterhouse about the year 1399.”

One account of the acquisition of Wester Powrie by the Fothringhans is as
follows :—* The lands of Wester Powrie, which belonged to Malcolm de Powrie,
of which John Ogilvy of Easter Powrie was the superior, are said to have been
given to John of Fothringham on his marriage with a daughter of Ogilvy of
Auchterhouse” (E. & J., L, p. 122). Douglas, L., p. 29, says :—*“ Wester
Powrie belonged to Malcolm of Powrie, and it passed to Patrick de Ogilvy,
second son of the compatriot of Bruce; but there is some difficulty in recon-
ciling the transfers of the two Fowries in these early times.”

‘We think the account we have given above of the acquisition of Wester
Powrie in 1412 is the correct one.  The Ogilvys retained the superiority of
both Powries long after the Fothringhams got Wester Powrie. 'We were
desirous to have given a historical account of the old family of Fothringham,
but having never seen a connected account of the family, we can only give such
notices of the race as we have met with, and these as nearly in chronologlcal
order as we can conveniently arrange them.



Crar, XLVIIL] ANGUS IN PARISHES.—MURROES. 15

It is traditionally supposed that the Fothringhams were originally Hun-
garians, and that the first member of the family came from that country with
the Queen of Malcolm Canmore. Henry of Foderingeye, who owned lands in
Perthshire, did homage to Edward L. at Berwick-upon-Tweed in 1296, They
were then an old family bearing arms (ermine three bars). Henry Fothringham
was a witness, 12th February, 1364-5 (Reg. Ep. Br., L, p. 20). Thomas, son
of Henry of Fodringhay, had a confirmation charter of the lands of Balewny,
in Ketting parish, from Robert II.,in 1378 (In.to Ch., 122-109). There
was a Sir Hugh Fothringham, knight, about 1730 (L. Sc. Seals).

We have shown above that Thomas Fothringham acquired the lands of
Wester Powrie in 1412. The charter was confirmed to him by David Ogilvy
of Ogilvy on 28th August, 1428. Since then the lands have remained in pos-
session of the family of Fothringham, and no part of the Fothringham lands
has ever been entailed.

Henry Fothringham of Powrie is mentioned on 10th February, 1435 (Reg.
Ep. Br., IL, p. 90), and on 16th May, 1448 (do.,I., p. 117). David Fothring-
ham was a witness, 21st July, 1450 (do., p. 79 and 141). Thomas Fothring-
ham is mentioned in 1454, and James Fothringham, all of Powrie,
on 19th April, 1458 (Do., p. 185). Thomas is again mentioned in
1472, and as a witness in 1475. He was an M.P. 1481 to 1485. In his
youth he was the friend of David, Earl of Crawford, and after the Earl was
created Duke of Montrose, he was the familiar squire and one of the Councillors
of the Duke (Lives, p. 145). On 16th July, 1481, the Duke gave him a
charter of additional lands, which was confirmed on 13th January, 1481-2.
Thomas is mentioned in the  Lives,” p. 456, on 29th October, 1488. Nicholas,
son of Thomas Fothringham, is mentioned in March, 1481-2. He attempted
to deprive the widowed Duchess of Montrose of the lands of Dunbog, in
Glenesk, about the year 1488. These lands were part of the terce of the
Duchess.  About 1490 Fothringham of Powrie laid in wed for Sir David
Lindsay of Edzell to Bishop Thomas of Aberdeen ““a cop and a cower of silver
our gilt, and a saltfut of silver” (L. of L., p. 32).

In the close of the 15th century, John of Fothringham was charged xii. merks
and three wedders, or half a chalder of victual, for the Mill of Fern. On 13th
February, 1502, James Fothringham founded a chapel in Dundee to the Re-
ligious Sisters of St Francis. Thomas Fothringham was one of an assize at
the service of John Carnegie of Kinnaird on 16th May, 1508 (H. of C. of S,
524). William Scrimgeour of Dudhope married Helen, daughter of Thomas
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Fothringham, in the first half of the 16th century (Craw., 116). About the
beginning of the 16th century Thomas Fothringham married Helen, daughter
of Sir Robert Murray of Abercairnie. About the middle of the 16th century
Thomas Fothringham married Helen, daughter of the Master of Lindsay of
the Byres (Craw., 86). e was a member of the Parliament of 1560. John
Fothringham was one of the Commissioners for Dundee at the Convention of
Estates held at Perth in July, 1569.

John Carnegie of Carnegie married Catherine Fothringham. She is men-
tioned as his spouse 1580-90 (Craw. MS, Notes ; L. of L.,195). Early in the
" 17th century Thomas Fothringham of Powrie married Margaret, daughter of
Sir John Gibson of Durie, afterwards Lord Durie (Bar., 569). Their initials
T.F. and M.G., with date 1642, are in the Church of Murroes.

Sir John Ogilvy, sixth Baron of Inverquharity, who succeeded his grand-
father, married Elizabeth, daughter of Thomas Fothringham of Powrie, about
1520. Thomas Fothringham married Jean, daughter of David Kinloch, who
was born 1560 and died 1617. James Kinloch, first of Kilry, married Cecillia,
daughter of Thomas Fothringham (D. Bar., 536).  John Ogilvy, afterwards
Sir John, son of James, second son of the seventh Baron of Inverquharity,
married his cousin Mathilda, daughter of Thomas Fothringham of Powrie,
contract dated November, 1586 (D. Bar., p. 51).

About 1640 Alexander Wedderburn, third of Kingennie, married a daughter
of Fothringham of Powrie, by whom he had two sons, who died in infancy
(D. Bar,, 279).  Sir Alexander Gibson of Durie, son of Sir John Gibson,
Senator of the College of Justice, Lord Clerk Register, &c., married Cecelia,
daughter of Thomas Fothringham, by whom he had a son, Sir John Gibson
of Durie. Sir Alexander was deprived of his offices by Oliver Cromwell in 1649.
(D.Bar.,189). Margaret Gibson,daughterof Sir Alexanderof Durie,and relict of
Thomas Fothringham of Powrie, was married to Sir Gilbert Ramsay of Bamff,
He died about 1653 (D. Bar., 189). Sir Alexander Blair of Balthayock, who
succeeded his father in 1565, married Elizabeth, daughter of Thomas Fothring-
ham, by Margaret Gibson. By her he had three sons—Thomas, his heir ;
John, who carried on the line of this family ; Andrew—and two daughters.
He died 1692 (D. Bar., 189).

David TFothringham married Marjory, second daughter of Sir Thomas
Stewart of Grandtully, about the middle of the seventeenth century (Bar., 487).
He was one of an assize in 1661 (Reg. de Pan., 331). On 5th December,
1654, John Fothringham of Powrie, heir of his brother Thorras, was retoured
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(340) in the half of the west part of Ethiebeaton, On 17th December, 1657,
David Fothringham succeeded his uncle Thomas in same lands.

On 19th June, 1610, Thomas Fothringham of Powrie was served heir to his
father Thomas in the lands and barony of Broughty, vizt.:—Lands of Hatton
and Inverarity, with mill and peilhouse; lands of Wester Brichty ; Happas,
with pasture in the moor of Brichty and Inverarity ; half the lands of Murroes ;
the lands of Balluderon ; half the lands of Tarsapie, with fishings on the river
Tay ; the lands and barony of Wester Powrie ; lands and barony of Inverarity,
with the lands of Kirkton of same ; lands of Parkyet, with mill and granary of
Inverarity ; lands of Ovenstone, Bractullo; half lands of Carrot; lands and
town of Bonnyton, Guisland ; patronage of the Church of Inverarity ; lands of
Little Tarbrax, with the moor of the barony of Inverarity, of Kirkton of same,
and Parkyet ; lands called Cushetgreen, in the barony of Downie; superiority
of the lands of Meikle Tarbrax, Labothy, Newton, and Balgirscho ; half Carrot ;
temple lands in town and territory of Brichty; third part of the dominical
lands of Downie; third part of the lands of Balhungie, in the barony of
Downie ; third part of the lands of Windyedge and Reuelgreen, in the barony
of Finhaven ; third part an annual of 42 bolls victual of the mill and grange
of Finhaven, and of the lands of Ordie, in the barony of Finhaven.

John Carnegie,second of Boysack, married Jean,daughterof David Fothring-
ham of Powrie shortly after the middle of the 17th century. David Fothringham
was one of the Commissioners for Angus at the Convention of Estates at Edin-
burgh in 1665. He is mentioned about 1670 (H. of C. of S.,429). Fothring-
ham of Powrie is amongst the barons in the list made up by Edward in 1678.
Ochterlony, 1684-5, says ¢ Kirriemuir was held mostly by the laird of Powrie.”
Near the end of the 17th century Thomas Fothringham married Ann, daughter
of Sir Patrick Ogilvy, seventh baron of the Boyne. He was a Senator of the
College of Justice, and knighted by Charles II. (Bar., 289). About the same
period David Young of Aldbar, who had for his preceptor the famous Ruddi-
man, married Majory, eldest daughter of Fothringham of Powrie (Ald.
B. Miss.) He died in 1743.

On 17th February, 1666, David Fothringham of Powrie bought from
Patrick, Lord Gray, the Castle of Broughty, and about twenty acres of the
adjoining links.

On 8th May, 1696, Thomas Fothringham of Powrie, heir of John, hig
brother, was retoured in the barony of Brightie, comprehending the lands of
‘Wester Brightie ; lands of Happas, with commonty in all the moors and marshes

c
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of Brightie and Inneraritie, with pertinents, &c.; Happas; Haltoune and
Inneraritie ; the peathouse and mill of Haltoune ; half the lands of Muirhouse ;
half the lands of Tarsappie, with fishings upon the water of Tay —E. £80,
tawale warde ; lands and barony of Wester Powrie—A.E. £3 6s 8d, N.E.
£13 65 8d; lands and barony of Inneraritie, comprehending the lands of
Haltoune of Inneraritie, with mill; lands of Kirktoune of Inneraritie, with
wood and lands of Parkyeat ; lands of Bonnitoune, with mansion there ; lands
of Bractillo, with moss of same ; lands of Unstone; corn mill of Inueraritie
and mill lands; half the land of Carrat, and piece of land called Gooseland of
Inneraritie, with advocation of the Church of Inneraritie, rectory, and vicarage
of same ; also comprehending the ownership of the land of Meikle Tarbrax ;
superiority of the lands of Labothie, Newtoune, and Balgersho ; and superiority
of the other half of the lands of Carat; and in the lands of Little Tarbrax,
with all the moors in the barony of Inneraritie; lands of the Kirktoune of In-
neraritie—A.E. £20, N.E. £80; lands of Cushie Green, in the barony of
Downie—A.E. 65, N.E. 24s—all united in the barony of Inneraritie; 4 acris
of Templar land in the town and territory of Breightie—A.E. £20, N.E. £80 ;
teinds of lands of Wester Powrie; land of Wester Breightie, and Templar
lands and mill, and half land of Muirhouse, all in the parish of Muirhouse;
teinds of the rectory of Balmuir, in the parish of Mains; rectory teinds of
Cushiegreen, in the parish of Monikie; rectory and other teinds of half the
town and lands of Ethiebeaton, in the parish of Monifieth—A.E. 20s, N.E. £6 ;
rock of Brughtie, with land of Bruchtie, and salmon fishing—E. £40 faxate
divorie; town and land of Northferrie, near Brughtie, commonly called the
Forth of Brughtie, with teinds, and fishing upon the water of Tay, and other
lands close by—E. £8 feudifirme—all erected into the barony of Powrie-Foth-
ringham ; 3 acris in the Kirktoune of Kirriemuir, near the courthill, commonly
called the Happie-Hillock, in ‘the parish and regality of Kirriemuir ; superiority
of the town and lands of Ballochs, with feus, &c., in the regality of Kirriemuir,
with liberty to take peats from the moss of Ballochs; town and land com-
monly called the mill of Kirriemuir, with the outfield aickres, mill and mill
lands, and with the infield aickers, in the town called the Kirktoune of Kirrie-
muir, in the regality of the same—A.E. —, N.E. — ; lands of Balmuir, with
grain and fulling mill, in the lordship and regality of Kiriemuir—A.E. —,
N.E. —; half land of Ethiebeaton, in the regality above written—E. £12
feudifirmee.

By the marriage of the father of the late laird of Powrie and Fothringham
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with Miss Scrymseour he acquired the property of Tealing, which lies between
the lands of Powrie aud Fothringham, and the three estates form a large, com-
paratively compact, and very valuable property. In consequence of this
alliance, the lairds of Powrie prefix Scrymseoure to their surname of Fothring-
ham. James Scrymseoure-Fothringham of Powrie, Tealing, and Fothringham
died in 1837. He was succeeded by his son, Captain Thomas, who married,
16th June, 1860, Lady Charlotte Carnegie, sister to the Earl of Southesk.
He died in March, 1864, aged 27. Lady Charlotte died on 15th January,
1880, aged 41 years.

Walter-Thomas-James Scrymseoure-Fothringham of Powrie, Fothringham,
and Tealing, born 1862, is the only son of the late Thomas Frederick
Scrymseoure-Fothringham of Powrie and Fothringham, who died in 1864, by
Lady Charlotte, sister of James, ninth Earl of Southesk. Ile succeeded his
grandmother, Marion Scrymseoure, heiress of Tealing, and widow of James
Fothringham of Powrie, who died 15th September, 1857, aged 82 years. She
died in 1875.

The Fothringham family, like many of the other Angus lairds, were
Jacobites. Archibald Fothringham, a son of the proprietor of Powrie, entered
the service of the Chevalier, and was made a lieutenant in the regiment of the
Earl of Panmure. He fought in the engagement at Sheriffmuir, and was
there taken prisoner and carried to Stirling Castle, along with others of the
rebel officers. He was subsequently taken to Edinburgh, and fromthere made his
escape. The circumstances of the escape are thus described by the Countess
of Panmure in a letter to her husband, the Earl, date 3d June, 1716 :— Last
week Poorie made his escape from his Lodgings in ye Cannongate, having gott
liberty to come out of My. Lord Winton’s house to take a course of Physick, so he
had onlie sentries on him ; and Borrowfield and Glenlyon has made their escape
from Stirling.”

It is probable that Thomas Fothringham, who petitioned the King to grant
him a pardon for the unpremeditated murder of Dennis Wright or M‘Intyre
at Florence in August, 1737, was a member of the family of Powrie.  The
cause of the quarrel is not stated ; but, according to the copy of the petition,
it appears that both were ¢ heated with drink ” at the time, and that the affair
began by ‘ throwing Bottles and glasses; and afterwards,” as is stated in the
petition, “ your Petitioner having unluckily got into his hand a Hanger that
was lying in the Room, I gave the said Dennis a wound in the Belly.” Wright
who died within two days, emitted a declaration, dated 27th August, which
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contains this frank and highly honourable statement :—* I forgive him with
all my heart, and T do by this, my Declaration, put a stop, as far as in me lyes,
to all prosecutions that may arise on account of the accident.”

The following extragcts from a letter by another member of the Powrie family,
written in the second month of the same year (1737), help to throw some light
upon the proceedings of the Scotchmen who, whether from necessity or choice,
spentaconsiderable part of their time in Franceand Italy after the1715and 1745
Rebellions. The writer, J. Fothringham, and Thomas, who caused the death of
Dennis Wright, had probably both taken part in the 1715 Rebellion, and fled to
Italy to escape the consequences of their loyalty to the Stuarts, as was done by
their kinsman Archibald, who escaped from Edinburgh and took refuge on
the Continent.

The letter is dated Milan, February 12, 1737, and addressed to James
Graham of Meathie. The state of society there, and the life the Scotch lairds
led while residing abroad in the early part of last century had been wretched in
the extreme, very dangerous, and suited for none but reckless men. He says,
“ Yesterday night I was robbed in my own lodgings of all my money, watch,
and a gold snuffbox belonging to a lady here, which by misfortune I had in
my pocket, and which T am olbliged 1o pay. After all the search I possibly .
can make I have found nothing but my watch, and that by the means of a
villainous confessor, to whom I am obliged to give about four pounds, and can’t
possibly have the satisfaction to know the person who played me this trick.”

“I began to accuse the house, and the justice of this rascally country is so
notorious that, but for good friends, I ran the risk of being imprisoned, per-
haps for months, for doing what anywhere else the judge would have done for
me. I cannot be on the streets at night without having people armed with
me for fear of being assassinated, almost a nightly occurrence here.”

“1 have promised James, in case a particular affair does not happen, to be at
home in August. He pressed that everything should be done to sell his whole
estate, as he wanted what he had in ready money rather than land, He
wanted it to be put in the newspapers to be sold either altogether or in part,
and the sooner the better.” There is a beautiful seal in red wax of the
Fothringham coat armorial on the letter.

In former times there were two Castles of Powrie, the one known as Wester
Powrie, belonging to the family of Fothringham ; and the other as Easter
Powrie, belonging to the family of Wedderburn of that ilk.  The Castle of
Wester Powrie is an old building, but the date of its erection is unknown. It
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stands at a short distance to the east of the highway between Dundee and
Forfar, at a part known as « Powrie Brae ”—about three miles from the former
and eleven miles from the latter town. What remains of the castle consists
of two detached portions, the southern of which appears to have been the
family apartments, and the northern where the retainers were housed. The
two buildings are only about twenty feet apart,and it is traditionally supposed
that a building to the east of the castle, known as the ladies’ quarter, connected
the two sections.

The castle appears to have been the residence of the family until about the
middle of the 16th century, After the Governor raised the siege of Broughty
Castle, the English, who held it from September, 1547, till February, 1550,
“became exceeding insolent, and spoiled and burnt the country at their
pleasure ; and among the rest, the town of Dundee and the Castle of Wester-
Pury, with the villages adjacent. They built a great strength upon Balgillow
Law, and infested the country, so that, for six miles about them, there was no
land laboured but it paid duty to them” (His. of Scot. by Pitsc., p. 306, &c.).

The damage done to the castle appears to have been so serious as to make it
unfit for the family residence. They had another residence beside the Church
of Murroes, which they probably occupied after the castle was destroyed, and
until they built Fothringham House, in Inverarity parish. It is now a thing
of the past, Fothringham Castle being now the family mansion.

The southern portion of the castle in which the family resided consisted of
two floors, both- vaulted, the apartments being both co-extensive with the
length and breadth of the building. One of them had been the hall, and,
judging from some ornamentation surrounding the chimney, which is still
pretty entire, it had been a handsome and spacious room. The chimney had
been very large. On the lintel there is an escutcheon, with the Fothringham
arms impaled, with three boars’ heads erased, and the letters T. F', for Thomas
Fothringham, on a deeply moulded panel, but there is no date upon the shield.

The northern portion of the castle had also been vaulted, and the oven in
the north-west corner of the ground floor is still recognisable. This portion
has recently been repaired, and it is now tenanted by some of the labourers on
the farm. The front building is in a very ruinous condition, and parts of the
walls are falling from time to time, a considerable portion of the west gable
having given way recently.  The view from the top of the front building is
very extensive.

‘We have mentioned above that the Fothringhams had a residence close by
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the Church of Murroes as well as the Castle of Powrie. It is a large, plain
building, which for some time past has been possessed by the hinds employed
on the farms in its vicinity. The house is on the right bank of the Murroes
burn, and the situation had been picturesque and pleasant.

Under the direction of the Privy Council, Lord Carnegie, who, on 10th
April, 1683, was appointed by Charles II. Captain of a troop of horse in the
Forfarshire Militia, was appointed to prosecute various parties in the county
for holding house and field conventicles. The following letter to his father,
Charles, fourth Earl of Southesk, shows how the Covenanters were persecuted.
The orthography is modernized.

% My Lord,—I had given your Lordship an account of these conventicles
sooner, but thought I could not do it better than after I had made some in-
quisition about them. I came this day to Forfar, where I met with the lairds of
Finhaven, Balnamoon, Guthrie, Powrie younger, Easter Powrie, Cookston, and
Balrownie younger. Powrie younger apprehended four cottars and servants
who live on his ground, which are here imprisoned, and other two which he
sent to Dundee, with a letter to the Provost to secure them, and requiring him
to apprehend another (whose name he sent to him), an inhabitant in Dundee.
I called the four prisoners here before me this day in a fenced court, whom
I found to be but poor inconsiderable people. ~For anything I can find,
they are ingenuous, having given upon oath as full a list of all persons present
at the conventicles as their memories could serve them, to the number of thirty
or thereby, the most part whereof were women.” They give account also that
one of the conventicles wasin the fields on Sunday fortnight, at the Ward Dyke,
within the march of the Myreton ; and on Sunday thereafter a house con-
venticle at the West March, in the house of Thomas Machan, a tenant of
Powrie’s. They could not give any further account of the preacher but that
he was a little man, with a short periwig, a stuff coat, and tartan hose ; that he
came from Fife, and was brought from Dundee to the place of these conventicles
by one Alexander Milne, in Newbigging (in whose house he stayed during
the time betwixt the conventicles), who and his family is fled, with the preacher,
they know not whither; some call him Mr John Flint (helstanes), Reid, or
Mr John Ramsay. As the deponents can conjecture, there would have been
at the field conventicle about fifty persons, and at the house about sixty, the
most part women. The convoy the preacher had were three or four Fife men,
lusty fellows. The prisoners, and the most part of them they delate, did, both
these days they were at the conventicles, hear two sermons in their parish church
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of the Murroes, and went more out of curiosity to see than hear at these con-
venticles, for they wish they had been lying in a fever that day they went. Upon
their confessions I have fined them, conform to the Acts of Parliament, and
ordained them to be detained close prisoners, after the tenor of these Acts, and
further, during the will of the Privy Council, whereof I humbly entreat a
speedy return. And as to these whom they delated, I have issued orders for
apprehending of them, if possible; and, in case they be not apprehended, for sum-
moning them to appear before me in a court to be holden here on Tuesday next,
after which time I shall give your Lordship as full an account as I can; for I
do not intend to come over till T have put a close to this affair, whereof I shall
give your Lordship notice from time to time. I am,my Lord, your Lordship’s
most dutiful son and humble servant,
(Signed) ¢ CARNEGY.
“Forfar, 2d April, 1685.”

Although the persecution was much less rigid in Angus than in the south,
this letter shows that even here repressive measure against the Presbyterians
were adopted, and severe pains and penalties inflicted upon those attending
conventicles, although from motives of curiosity only.

The gift of King William the Lion to Gilbert, third son of Gilbride,
second son of the Earl of Angus, included the lands and barony of Ogilvie,
in the parish of Glamis, as well as those of Easter and Wester Powrie, and
from them the family assumed the surname of Ogilvy. In the charter Gilbert
is designed *‘ son of the Earl of Angus.” The Ogilvys continued in possession of
Ogilvy and Easter Powrie for a long period, and they retained the superiority
for a considerable time after they had disposed of the lands.

Alexander Ogilvy, son of Sir Patrick de Ogilby, in the time of the Bruce,
obtained the lands of Ogilvy and Easter Powrie. His son, Sir Patrick, was
the ancestor of the Ogilvys of Ogilvie and Easter Powrie, but we are unable to
give the succession of the family in these lands for some time thereafter.
Easter Powrie remained in the family until near the end of the 16th century.
The last male of the name of Ogilvy who owned Easter Powrie was Gilbert
Ogilvy of Ogilvy. He left a daughter, Anne, who was married to Sir Thomas
Erskine of Gogar, nephew of the Regent, John, Earl of Mar. Sir Thomas
was created Earl of Kellie by James VI in 1619. On 27th August,
1601, John, heir of Gilbert, his father, was retoured (No. 22) in the lands
and barony of Easter Powrie; and on 19th January, 1610, Gilbert, heir of
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his father, John Ogilvy, was retoured (No. 69) in same lands and barony, of
Easter Powrie—A.E. £12, N.E. £48.  These two services of heirs may have
been of the superiority of the properties only.

The first recorded of the name of Ogilvy whom we have found is Alex-
ander Ogilvy, who was one of an inquest who found that the lands of Inver-
peffer owed suit of court to the Abbot of Arbroath. The next and immediate
successor of Alexander was Patrick de Ogilvy, who did homage to Edward I.
in 1296. In 1267 he witnessed a charter by Roger de Quincy, Earl of Min-
chester, of the Churches of Lathirsk and Kettle to the Priory of St Andrews.
Sir Walter of Ogilvy, third in descent from Patrick, married the heiress of
Sir Malcolm Ramsay of Auchterhouse, and with her he got that barony, and
the office of hereditary Sheriff of Forfarshire.

Gilbert Ogilvy appears to have sold the lands and barony of Ogilvy and of
Easter Powrie to James Durham of Pitkerro, son of John Durham, second son
of Alexander, sixth baron of Grange of Monifieth, who had a charter under the
Great Seal dated 12th November, 1593. He had another charter of these pro-
perties dated 11th July, 1631.

James Durham, grandson of James Durham who acquired Easter Powrie,
is styled apparent of Pitkerro in a charter of Powrie Easter, the barony of
Ogilvy, &c. He was knighted by Charles I.  Sir James died in 1683 (see
Vol. IV,, p. 158).

They appear to have been acquired from the Durhams by a M‘Pherson, but
we do not know who he was. Alexander” Wedderburn, Provost of Dundee,
bought from Dougald M‘Pherson the lands of Easter Powrie, and got a
charter of them under the Great Seal from Charles II., dated 12th Jannary,
1663. The lands and barony of IZaster Powrie are now known as the Middle-
ton and the Barns of Wedderburn, and they still remain in possession of
his descendant, H. S. Wedderburn of Birkhill, &c. (Gen. of the Wed.,,
p- 20).

There was a castle on Easter Powrie in early times, which, it is supposed,
belonged to and had been one of the seats of the ancient Earls of Angus; but
there is nothing certainly known about any of the residences of the great
Celtic Earls of Angus, who at one period were the proprietors of the greater
part of the lands in this district, and in other disiricts of the county. The
Castle of Easter Powrie was demolished and the stones removed many years
ago, and no vestige of the ruins now remains on the spot, indeed the precise
site cannot now be pointed out with certainty. It is believed to have stood on
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the right bank of the Fithie, a short distance to the north-west of Duntrune
Hill, and near to where an old dovecot still stands.

This dovecot is an interesting ruin, It is a circular tower, about fifteen
feet in height and thirty in circumference. It is now roofless, and parts of the
wall are rent. A door on the level of the ground admits to the interior, around
which there are fifteen rows, the one above the other from the floor to the top
of the building, of square stone nesting boxes, or pigeon holes, each nearly a
foot square. There are about twenty-four nesting boxes in each row, making
about 360 in all the dovecot. When the pigeon-house was full the family
within must have been very numerous.

No view of the castle exists, so far as we know, but some sculptured stones
from the castle are built into the farm buildings of Barns of Wedderburn.
These consist of one stone in the north wall of the cattle shed, fronting the
public road, on which there is a portion of an animal, with open mouth turned
up, and other figures which the weather and other causes have made it im-
possible to describe. On the south wall of the cattle shed there is another, on
which is what looks like an expanded circular bottle, the neck of which ex-
tends to the top of the stone. There are some markings on the lower half of
the bulb-like bottle. A little apart from the bottle are the neck and head of
an animal. These two stones appear to be only fragments. In a loose stone
wall adjoining the farmhouse there is a third stone, but the figures are so
effaced that we can give no description of them. These three stones were
very probably taken from the old castle. In the north wall of the southern
portion of the farm steading is a triangular stone, on which are armorial
bearings, with the letter S. in one of the lower angles, and D. in the other,
with a scroll on each side of the triangle. This is a modern-looking stone, but
we do not know whose initials or arms are on the triangle.

Ochterlony thus describes the Castle of Easter Powrie :—*“ It is a very good
house, with good yards and parks about it ; and at the foot of the castle wall
runs a little rivulet, which, going to Ballumbie, and from thence to Pitkerro,
falls into the river of Dighty. It is a very pleasant place, and he is chief of
his name,” &e.

There is no record to show when the proprietors of the barony of Wedder-
burn, in Berwickshire, assumed the name of their lands as a surname.  Sur-
names began to be used in Scotland during the reign of King David the First.

In the Inquisitio Davidis, in the year 1116, Gervase de Riddell and Robert de
D
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Corbet were witnesses, and these are perhaps the two oldest surnames which
can be traced in the chartularies of Scotland. .

Walter de Wederburn, one of the barons of Scotland, swore fealty for his
lands in the Merse to Edward the First at Berwick-on-Tweed, 28th August,
1296. From this date till after the accession of Robert IIL. to the throne, in
1390, the annals of the family are by no means clear. In that year Alice was
married to Sir David Home of Thurston, second son of Sir Thomas Home of
Home, and they had two sons, David and Alexander, David married Eliza-
beth Carmichael, and had issue George and Patrick.

James II. granted a charter of confirmation of the lands of Wedderburn
under the Great Seal, dated at Stirling, 16th May, 1450, upon a resignation of
the said Sir David and his wife, Alice, to them in liferent, and after their
decease, to George, son of the deceased David Home, and, whom failing, fo
Patrick, brother of George, &c. From George, the present Home of Wedder-
burn is descended, and the confirmatory charter of 1450 is in his possession.
There were other Wedderburns in Berwickshire after the death of Robert IIT.
in1406. William de Wedderburn, Scutifer, was left in charge of the infant son
of Cir John Swinton of Swinton, who fell at the battle of Vernoil, in France,
in 1424. It is not known from what branch of the Wedderburns the family
now to be mentioned are descended.

1. James Wedderburn “ Merchant Burgess of Dundee,” had two sons,
James, his heir, and

II. David, Who was living in 14,-64, and was mentioned in a charter under
the Great Seal from James IV., dated 18th February, 1489. ¢ Ad Sustenta-
tionem Capellain in Ecclessia de Dundee,” James, the heir, left issue by Janet,
daughter and beiress of David Forrester of Nevay.

ITI. John Wedderburn of Tofts, Town Clerk of Dundee. He obtained
from James V. a charter under the Great Seal, 20th June, 1527, to John
‘Wedderburn, son of James Wedderburn, junior, burgess of Dundee, and Janet
Forrester, his wife, of the lands of Tofts, in the barony of Tullogh Hill.

‘When Lord William Howard, termed by the Borderers ¢ Belted Will,” was
sent ambassador from England, in 1530, to negotiate an interview between
King James and his uncle, Henry the Eighth, the Queen mother challenged
James to produce three landed gentlemen and three yeomen to contend in
archery with six of the ambassador’s retinue, the prize to be one hundred crowns
and a tun of wine. The gentlemen selected were John Wedderburn of Tofts,
David Wemyss of Wemyss, and David Arnot of Arnot. They contended at
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St Andrews, and though the Englishmen proved themselves excellent archers,
the Scots gained the prize.

John Wedderburn of Tofts obtained another charter under the Great Seal,
dated 31st August, 1533, confirming to him certain lands in the lordship of
Dudhope, and he died shortly thereafter. He had two sons, David, his heir, and
James, who was bred to arms, was a colonel in the French service in 1571,
and brought over a hundred men to the siege of Leith. He returned to the
Continent, and his subsequent history and fate is uncertain.

IV. David Wedderburn, also Town Clerk of Dundee, who got a charter
under the Great Seal, to him and Helen Lawson, his spouse, of the lands of
Hilton of Craigie, dated 9th October, 1535 ; and another from Queen Mary,
to them, of the Mains of Huntly, in Perthshire, 8th October, 1552. He died,
an old man, in 1590, leaving three sons and a daughter—Alexander, his heir,
born in 1550 ; James, who was bred to the Church, was professor of divinity
at St Andrews, 1633, Bishop of Dunblane, 1635, but was deprived, 26th
November, 1638, went to England, and died 1639 ; and John, an eminent
physician and mathematician, who was a professor in Padua, and settled in
Moravia; Margaret, married to Peter Clayhills. She died on 20th September,
1616, leaving issue.

V. Alexander, the heir, was a man of intelligence and worth.  He became
Town Clerk of Dundee, 28th July, 1590. He devoted much of his time in
removing differences among his neighbours, in which good work he was so
dexterous and impartial, that he generally pleased both parties. = The Magis-
trates employed him in all their important affairs, and he was in great favour
with King James VI. He accompanied the King to ILondon in 1603, and
when he was leaving to return to Scotland, His Majesty took a diamond ring
from his finger and gave it to him as a token of friendship.

The ring is still preserved in the family. By his wife, Helen Ramsay, he
had three sons and four daughters. Alexander, his heir ; James, progenitor of
the Blaekness family, born about 1580 ; John, M.D., physician to, and a
favourite with, Charles I., who knighted him, and gave him a pension of £2000
Scots yearly, which pension was renewed by Charles II. in 1660. He acquired
great wealth, and gave his nephew, Sir Peter Wedderburn, Lord Gosford, the
means of purchasing the property of Gosford, in Lothian, He died without
issue.

Elizabetb was married to Campbell of Balgerstone, secondly to Peter Bruce,
D.D., Principal of St Leonard’s College, St Andrews, and son of the laird of
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Fingask ; Agnes to Halyburton of Gask ; Magdalene to William, son of Wed-
derburn of Pitormie; and Elspeth to Alexander Fothringham, brother of
Powrie. :

Alexander Wedderburn obtained from James V1. charter under the Great
Seal of the lands and barony of Kingennie in 1600. Under a deed granted
in 1603 he acquired from the Earl of Crawford the right of pasturage over an
extensive tract of country. We have not ascertained where this extensive
tract of country was situated. »

VI. Alexander, his son, succeeded as second baron of Kingennie, and also
as Town Clerk of Dundee. In 1618 he was by Act of Parliament appointed Com-
missioner for regulating the Weights and Measures of Scotland. He married
Magdalene, daughter of John Scrimgeour of Magdalen’s Kirkton, by whom he
had a son ; and a daughter, Marjory, married to Robert Carnegie of Leuchland.
He died in 1635.

VII. Alexander succeeded his father as third baron of Kingennie. 'When his
father died he was too young to hold the office of Town Clerk, and the Cierk-
ship of Dundee was given to his cousin of Blackness, also a young man of 17.

Alexander married a daughter of Fothringham of Powrie, by whom he had
two sons, who died in infancy; secondly, Elizabeth, daughter of Ramsay of
Murie, by whom he had a son and heir, Alexander ; thirdly, a daughter of
Milne of Milnefield, by whom he had a daughter, Magdalene, married to John
Scrymgeour of Magdalen’s Kirkton, Hereditary Royal Standard-Bearer of
Scotland, heir of line, entail, and tailzie to John, Earl of Dundee, and last
Viscount of Dudhope.  She was grandmother of David Scrymgeour of Birk-
hill. He was a member of the first Parliament of Charles II.

On 10th July, 1662, Alexander Wedderburn was elected Provost of
Dundee.  In same year he purchased from Dougald M‘Pherson the lands of
Easter Powrie, and obtained from Charles II. a charter under the Great Seal,
dated 10th January, 1663, of the land and barony of Easter Powrie. He died
a few years thereafter.

VIIL. Alexander, son of Alexander Wedderburn and the daughter of Ramsay
of Murie, fourth baron of Kingennie, succeeded on the death of his father. He
married his cousin, Grisel, fourth daughter of Sir Alexander Wedderburn,
knight, of Blackness, by Matilda, daughter of Fletcher of Inverpeffer, born
8th February, 1647. By her he had a son and a daughter, Rachael, married to
Gilbert Stewart, brother of John Stewart of Stenton. She died after 1697,
without issue to Stewart.
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In the printed retours the following entries of the service of heirs to these
properties appear :—Retour, No. 521—On 24th March, 1692, Alexander
Wedderburn, heir of his father, Alexander Wedderburn of Easter Powrie, .was
retoured in the lands of Easter Powrie, with mill ; Wester Mains or Middleton ;
Easter Mains and Burnside of Powrie, principal ; and in warrandice of same,
in the lands and barony of Ogilvie, called the Glen of Ogilvie—A.E. £12, N.E.,
£48. The teinds of the lands of Powrie in Murroes E. 10s. alba firme.

IX. Alexander Wedderburn, who succeeded his father, Alexander, was the
fifth baron of Kingennie. In the beginning of the eighteenth century he
obtained from Queen Anne a charter under the Great Seal, erecting all his
lands, de novo, into a barony, to be called the barony of Wedderburn in all
time coming. Thereafter he was designed Wedderburn of that ilk.

He married Grisel, a daughter of Garden (Gardyne) of Lawton, and by her
he had a son, David, and a daughter, Grisel, who survived them, besides other
four sons who died young, and a daughter, Rachel, who died unmarried.
Alexander Wedderburn was appointed Governor of Broughty Castle, by com-
mission from King James the Eiglhth (the Pretender), dated at Scone, 21st
January, 1715-16.

X. David Wedderburn, born 21st April, 1710, succeeded his father as
second Wedderburn of that ilk. He died in 1761 unmarried, and with him
terminated the direet male descent from Alexander, first baron of Kingennie
(No. V. of this account of the family).

XI. Grisel Wedderburn of Wedderburn, born 14th February, 1705, was
served heir to her brother David in 1761. She died unmarried in November,
1778. She was heir of line of the Wedderburns of that ilk.

Under an entail executed by Grisel, the barony devolved on her nearest
paternal relative, Alexander, eldest son of David Serymgeour of Birkhill,
Heritable Royal Standard-Bearer of Scotland. David Scrymgeour of Birk-
hill, advocate, married, in August, 1739, Katherine, sixth daughter of Sir
Alexander Wedderburn of Blackness, born 10th January, 1715, died 19th
March, 1796, and by her, besides Alexander, had three sons and five daughters.
The deed ordains that the heir in possession of the barony must bear the sur-
name of Wedderburn, and none other ; and the armorial ensigns of Wedder-
buarn, but these he is permitted to bear with or without alteration, addition, or
variation, as he may please.

David ¥erymgeour of Birkhill was the son of Dr Alexander Serymgeour,
Professor of St Andrews, by Janet, daughter of David Falconer, son of John
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Scrymgeour of Magdalen’s Kirkton, by Magdalene, only daughter of Alexander
‘Wedderburn of Kingennie and Wedderburn, great-grandfather of Grisel Wed-
derburn, the entailer.

XII. Alexander Wedderburn of Wedderburn and Birkhill, who succeeded
to the barony of Wedderburn in 1778, was Heritable Royal Standard—Bearer
of Scotland. He was bred to the law, and became a member of the Faculty of
Advocates in 1766. On 2d March, 1771, he married Elizabeth, second
daughter of James Fergusson of Pitfour, a Senator of the College of Justice,
by the Hon. Anne Murray, daughter of the fourth Lord Elibank. She died
without issue on 13th October, 1810. He died on 4th July, 1811, and was
succeeded by his only surviving brother.

XIII. Henry Wedderburn of Wedderburn and Birkhill, Heritable Royal
Standard-Bearer of Scotland, was born in 1755. He married, 5th April, 1793,
Mary Turner, eldest daughter of the Hon® Frederick Lewis Maitland, jure
uxorss, of Rankeillor and Lindores, sixth son of the sixth Earl of Lauderdale,
by Margaret Dick Makgill, heiress of Rankeillor and Lindores, and had
four sons and eight daughters. The three eldest sons predeceased their father,
who died on 20th December, 1841, and was succeeded by his son,

XIV. Frederick Lewis Wedderburn of Wedderburn and Birkhill, born 4th
March, 1808.  He married Hon. Helen, fifth daughter of the eighth Viscount
Arbuthnot, and by her had issue Henry, his heir. Secondly, Selina, daughter of
Captain Garth, R.N., of Haines Hill, Berkshire, by whom he had issne a son
and two daughters. He died on 16th August, 1874.

As we have shown by the above account of the family of Wedderburn,
the family were, for many generations, leading citizens in Dundee, and took
a prominent part in the municipal, mercantile, legal, and other interests of the
burgh. Several generations of the race were successively Town Clerks of Dun-
dee, and some of them while they held this office were masters of the position,
and took the supreme control of the business under the charge of the Magistrates,
Town Council, and other constituted authorities in the town. One of the
members of the family signed the “ Merchants’ Letter,” or Charter of Incor-
poration of the Guildry, on 10th October, 1515. Some of the members of the
Wedderburn family have represented the Dundee district of burghs in Parlia-
ment, have had titles of honour bestowed on them, and have held important
offices under the Government of the kingdom.

The family, in course of time, branched out in several directions, and became
allied with many noble and honourable families in various parts of the country.
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The Beatons retained Westhall until after 1631. On 21st January, 1631,
James Beaton, heir of James Beaton of Westhall, his father, was retoured
(No. 197) in the lands and mill, in the parish of Murroes, called Westhall, in
the barony of Inverarity—A.E. 40s, N.E. £8.

The lands appear to have passed from the Beatons shortly thereafter to a
family named Scott. On Ist May, 1662, Grisel Scott, spouse of George Brown,
merchant burgess of Dundee, and others her sisters, heirs portioners of Thomas
Scott, a bailie in Dundee, their father, were retoured (No. 389) in the lands and
town of Westhall, with the mill of same-- A.E. 40s, N.E. £8 ; also tenements
in Dundee, &ec.

The estate appears to have been acquired by a cadet of the Piersons of Bal-
madies sflortly after the date of that retour.

In Ochterlony’s account of the shire he mentions ¢ Westhall, with a dovecot,
belonging to Archibald Pierson.” This was in or about 1684-5.

" The chapelyard burying-ground, in the parish of Rescobie, is where the
-Piersons bury. Among the headstones there are two which bear respectively
Mr Archibald Pearsone of Westhall.
Elizabeth Garden, his spouse.
Although there is no date upon these stones, there is some probability that
Archibald Pearsone, whose death is there recorded, is the proprietor of West-
hall mentioned by Ochterlony.

In Macfarlane’s MSS. (Vol. IIL, pp. 275-9, The Guthries of Westhall, c.
1682, et sub. ), in the Advocates’ Library, Edinburgh, the words ¢ Westhall,
with a dovecot” are deleted in Ochterlony’s account of the shire, and ¢ Mr John
Guthrie of Westhall ” substituted. Guthrie had probably succeeded Pearson
in Westhall. :

John Guthrie had two daughters, Isobel, married first to Bishop Norrie of
Brechin in April, 1708 ; secondly to David Gardyne of Lawton, who was out
in the “’45,” fought at Culloden, and died at Newport, in Flanders, in 1749.
Her sister and co-heiress, Margaret, became the second wife of Sir David George
Ogilvy of Barras. By her he had a family of sons and daughters. Rev. James
Ogilvy, minister of Fassie, married one of the daughters, Susanna. He had
got Westhall with her, as he is designed of Westhall. He died in 1802, and
their son, William, was also designed of Westhall.

The Rev. James Ogilvy, minister of Eassie, who was the founder of the
Ogilvys of Westhall, was the eldest son of Rev. George Ogilvy, who succeeded
Mr Lyon in Kirriemuir in 1713, and he was the first Presbyterian minister



Caar. XLIX.] ANGUS IN PARISHES—NEWTYLE. 33

there, He married Trail, from Dundee, and died in 1771, aged 90
years. His son, the Rev. James Ogilvy of Eassie, married Susan, daughter of
Sir George Ogilvy of Barras.

The Rev. William Ramsay, who was minister at Cortachy from 1795 to
1818, married the daughter of John Ogilvy of Jamaica, who was a son of
William Ogilvy, laird of Westhall. By her he had a son, who was minister
at Alyth, and another, George Ramsay Ogilvy, who passed as an advocate in
1844, and was Sheriff-Substitute at Forfar, and afterwards at Dundee. He
succeeded to Westhall in virtue of the settlement of a maternal aunt, when he
assumed the additional surname of Ogilvy. His only daughter having prede-
ceased him, he bequeathed the estate of Westhall to his cousin-german, Rev.
David Ramsay, minister of Closeburn, and second son of the minister of Alyth.
George Ramsay Ogilvy died on 22d November, 1866, aged 44 years. The
Rev. David Ogilvy Ramsay is the present proprietor of Westhall.

The house of Westhall stands on a commanding situation, a short distance
eastward from Duntrune, and has an extensive and beautiful prospect, especially
to the south and eastward.

Crap. XLIX.—NEWTYLE.

The Church of Nevtyl (Newtyle) was in the diocese of St Andrews. It was
dedicated by Bishop David in 1242, but the patron saint is not known, The
church was given by William the Lion to the Abbey of Arbroath. It was
rated in the Old Taxation at 20 merks, but in the Reg. de Aberb., p. 239, the
amount is expressed thus, xx (xxx ?) merks. It may therefore have been 30
merks.

The previous Church of Newtyld, now Newtyle, was built in 1767. It stood
on a slight eminence at the west side of the village of Newtyle, and was taken
down in 1870, having stood a little over one hundred years. The new church
was built on the site of the old one. It is somewhat ornate, and has a lofty
roofed tower for a belfry. Within it is neat and commodious.  The church
bell bears the date 1736. It had done service in a still older church than the
last one.

In 1574 Newtyld and Nava were served by Maister Robert Boyd, minister,
with a stipend of £80 and kirklands. George Halden was reidare at Newtyld
with a salary of £20, both sums Scofs. Matthew Moncur, reidare at Nava
(Navey, the haill vicarage). The superintendent of Angus, Mernis, Stor-
month, and Gowrie, £446 133 92d Scots. Summa of the money assignit to

E
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the Ministerie within the bounds of Anguss, Mernis, Gowrie, and Starmonth,
iifj= ije lifj L. xv* j% % pt. d.—Off quheit, v ch.—Off beir, xlvj ch,, xj b.,
ij fr., ij pect.—Off meill, lix ch., v b., j fr., 3 pt. pect.—Off aittis, xiij b. (Mis.
‘Wod. Soc., p. 355).

In former times there was a chapel upon the Hill of Keillor, about a mile
to the west of the church, near to which is a large block of gneis, which stands
upon a tumulus of earth and stones, in which cists containing bones were
found, and near to which ancient sepulchral remains were found. The stone
has a smooth face, on which the figure of an animal, with the spectacle and
other symbols underneath, are incised. The stone was broken across, but the
two parts have been united and the stone placed on its old site. In the be-
ginning of the century a weem, or Pict’s house, was discovered a short distance
south of the farmhouse of Auchtertyre.

The parish is bounded by Lundie on the south, on the west by Kettins, on
the north by Meigle, on the east by Nevay, and on the south-east by Auchter-
house. It is about two miles in length from east to west, and the same in
breadth from north to south. It contains 5194:828 acres, of which 2:509 are
water.

The southern portion of the parish is hilly, but, as the hills are verdant, they
afford good pasturage for sheep and cattle. They are not of great altitude,
but from the summit of each—Keillor, Newtyle, Hatton, Kinpurnie, &c.—the
views are grand.

The land lying beyond the boundary of the hills, to the north, is generally
fertile, of excellent quality, consisting of black earth and clay, cultivated with
assiduity, care, and skill, and it produces large crops of superior grain, turnips,
potatoes, &e.

Hugh Watson, who long farmed Ochtertyre and Keillor, gained a name
and fame as an agiculturist and a breeder of stock. Hedied in 1865. The re-
putation which he acquired, and deserved, has stimulated others to follow in
his footsteps, and the farmers in the parish maintain a high position for their
agricultural attainments.

In the village of Newtyle there is, besides the Established Church, a neat
Free Church. Each of the churches has comfortable manses, but the Free
Church has no glebe. The moral and spiritual interests of the inhabitants
of the parish are well cared for. There is a good hall and an excellent public
library in the village.

Sir William Oliphant, knight, of Aberdalgie, was a faithful adherent of
The Bruce. IHe was one of the barons who signed the famous letter to the
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A writ, dated 13th November, 1524, sets forth that Elizabeth Aytoun, spouse
of John Halket of Pitfirren, appeared at Edinburgh in presence of Mr Thomas
Cowtis, perpetual vicar of Cargyll, &c., and there, apart from her husband,
resigned her third part of Ochtertyre and Balcraig in favour of Robert Marser
in Mekillour. A fine seal of the official is on the writ (do., do.).

On 24th September, 1508, before Andrew, Lord Gray, Sheriff of Forfar, a
cognition at the Myre of Newtyle, betwixt the lands of Newtyle and Ochter-
tyre, belonging to John, Lord Oliphant, and the lands of Migill, belonging to
John, Earl of Crawford (do., do.).

The family of Billenden must have been proprietors of Newtyle in at least
part of the 16th century, as Thomas Billenden of Newtyle was appointed a
Lord of Session in 1557 (Doug. I., p. 210).

The entry in the retours regarding Lord Oliphant’s Newtyle lands is as fol-
lows :—On 2d July, 1605, Lord Oliphant, heir of Lord Lawrence, his grand-
father, was retoured (No. 45) in the lands and barony of Newtyle and Kil-
purny, with the mill of Newtyle—A.E. £10, N.E. £32; the one part and the
other of the lands and barony of Auchtertyre and Balcraig—A.E. £10, N.E.
£40. Lords Oliphant were also proprietors of Turin and Drimmie, and of
Gallery, but we omit the retours of these lands here. On 28th April, 1643,
Patrick, Lord Oliphant, heir of John, Master of Oliphant, his father, was re-
toured (No. 609) in the town and lands of Pitnepie, in the barony of New-
tibber—A.E. 12s, N.E. 48s.

The Oliphants retained possession of these lands until the early part of the
seventeenth century, when they were acquired by the Halyburtons of Pitcur.
The first of the name who acquired them appears to have been Sir James Haly-
burton, knight. His son, William, succeeded on 6th October, 1627 (Ret. 170-1),
to the lands and barony of Newtyle, Kinpurnie, Auchtertyre, and Balcraig, the
town and lands of the Kirkton of Newtyle, and the town and lands of Balmaw.
On 11th January, 1653, James Halyburton succeeded (Ret. 316-7) to same
lands. On 14th May, 1667, James Halyburton of Pitcur, heir of his father,
succeeded (Ret. 427) to the same lands, and many others,” On 22d October,
1679, David Halyburton succeeded (Ret. 455) his brother, James, last men-
tioned, to the same lands; and on 25th October, 1681, he was again re-
toured (No. 487) in the same lands. ‘

The croft or land of the vicar, or church lands of Newtyle, belonged to the
Lindsays in the 16th century. On 2d October, 1596, Patrick Lindsay of
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Barnyards, son of David Lindsay of same, was retoured (No. 585) in these
lands, the feu on which was £11.

Shortly after the date of the above-mentioned retour (487), the lands and
barony of Newtyle, Kinpurnie, Auchtertyre, Balcraig, Kirkton, and many
others were acquired by Lord Georgé Mackenzie of Rosehaugh. The lands
which belonged to the Mackenzie family passed by inheritance to the Stuart
‘Wortleys, who are now represented by the Earl of Wharncliffe. =~ His Lord-
ship’s fine seat, Belmont Castle, is within about a mile of the church and
village of Newtyle.

On 22d October, 1691, George Mackenzie of Rosehaugh, heir of Lord
George Mackenzie of Rosehaugh, his father, was retoured in the lands and
barony of Newtyld and Kilpurnie, with mansion there of Newtyld, and mill,
and advocation of the Church of Newtyld ; the lands and barony of Auchter-
tyre and Belcraige, with pendicles of same called Dennend, Reidfurd, New-
bigging and Boghead, and land of Burnemouth ; lands of Clinsh, in the barony
of Auchtertyre and Newtyld, with teinds——A.E. £12 13s 4d, N.E. £25 6s 8d ;
lands of Hilend or Templebank and acre in the lands of Hatton of Newtyld ;
croft of land, with garden, in the village of Hatton of Newtyld—E. 44s feud:-
firme ; church lands of Newtyld, with teinds, comprehending the town and
lands of Kirkton of Newtyld and Brewlands, w1’ch teinds, also the lands com-
monly called Kirklands, in the parish of Newtyld—-A.E. 20s, N.E. £4 ;' half
of the half town and land of Balmave, extending to the fourth part of the lands
of Balmave, for principal, and in warrandice of same, the fourth part of the
land of Balmave ; two quarter parts of the town and lands of Balmave, in said
parish—E. £3 16s, &c., feudifirmee ; and first in lands of Henderstoune and
Sillieseat, with holding and superiority of the lands of Eddertie; lands and
barony of Neutibber, comprehending lands of Pitnappie, with holdmo' and
superiority, &c., of Coustoune Davestoune, and mill of Milnhole ; pendicle of
Burnside of Newtyld—-AE £5, N.E. £20 ; dominical lands of Dudhope, in
the barony of Dundee—A.E. 7s 6d, N.E. 30s; teinds of the rectory of all the
lands of Newtyld—E. — —, united in the barony of Newtyld ; dominical
lands and mansion of Wester Keillor, with mill ; pendicle called lands of the
Hill of Keillor; Deansyde—A.E. £5, N.E. £20; western half of the land
and town of Easter Keillor, in the barony of Lintrathen—A.L. 16s 8d, N.E.
£3 68 8d; an annual payment of 40s from either of the half lands of Easter
Keillor—E. 1d albe firme ; an annual payment of £200, corresponding to
300m., from the lands and barony of Pitcur, Gask, Balgove, Balluny, New-
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toun of Balluny, Balgillo, Eastounend of Keattins, and Pitdounie, in the parish
of Keattins—E. 1d albe firmee.

The Castle of Newtyle, or Hatton Castle, as it is usually called in the dis-
trict, and in old writs Halton Castle, bears the date 1575. It was probably
erected by Laurence, the fourth Lord Oliphant, as that date corresponds to his
period. It is situated on the north-west border of Hatton Hill, and some
distance above the village of Newtyle, from which, and from the district around,
the ruins are well seen. It is a picturesque ruin, but little of the castle now
remains except the bare gaunt walls, which are yearly becoming more ruinous.
Architecturally it had neither been a handsome nor an imposing structure, and
it pever was, nor from its situation could it ever have been, intended for a
fortalice, but it narrowly escaped being attacked in 1645-6. It was then
occupied by the Earl of Crawford and a garrison in the interest of the Cove-
nanters.

The great Marquis of Montrose, who before then had left his old friends and
espoused the Royal cause, while in the north, heard the state of matters in the
south, and resolved to strike a blow at Lord Lindsay. Shortly after the battle
of Aldearn, he left Badenoch and marched rapidly south as far as Newton ot
Blair, on his way to Hatton Castle.  Confident of an easy victory, he made
his preparations for the assault; but, instead of proceeding to the attack, the
Gordons deserted him, and his other troops, the Highlanders, stole off to their
native glens with the plunder they had gathered in this expedition. =~ These
events compelled the Marquis to abandon his design against Lord Lindsay.
He retraced his steps to the north, contenting himself with burning Newton
Castle, Blairgowrie.  Vestiges of a camp, said to have been occupied by his
men, were visible near to Ochtertyre.

An observatory was erected upon the summit of Kinpurnie Hill, by the
Honourable James Mackenzie, Lord Privy Seal. This hill, one of the Sidlaw
range, commands a most extensive prospect in all directions, and no better site
could have been chosen for the observatory. The hill forms part of the
Belmont estate, of which he was then proprietor. The observatory has long
been roofless, but the bare walls are still nearly entire, and, being lofty, it is a
prominent and striking object seen from the vale of the Dighty on the south,
and the vale of Strathmore on the north, and from many other points. For
further details of the observatory see Vol. IV., p. 336-7. The Lord Privy
Seal spent many nights in the observatory in company with Professor Playfair,
both of whom were keen astronomers.
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in all necessaries at their own proper charges. The charter was signed at Lin-
dores by John, the Abbot; James Carstairs, sub-prior ; and eighteen monks.

From this it would appear that Archibald Anderson had previously held
these lands, but, having died without male issue, this new charter of them had
been granted to the widow and her brother, as the reddendo binds them to give
the services *“ they had been in use to do.”

This shows that the Abbot was soldier as well as priest, and had to arm his
vassals and dependants that they might be ready to ride and fight in defence of
the State in a time of war. The tenants had many other: troublesome
services imposed upon them which farmers would not submit to now.

These lands afterwards came into possession of the Bannatynes. Thomas
Bannatyne, who was a prosperous lawyer in Edinburgh, acquired the old
manor house of the Kirkton of Newtyle, and made it his conntry house. It
was his brother George who transcribed the Bannatyne Manuscript in the
turret of his brother’s house. Thomas Bannatyne was raised to the bench in 1557
(Doug. p. 210) having been one of the Lords of Council and Session in the time of
King James VI. under the title of Lord Bannatyne. He either built or en-
larged the house, which has been long known as Bannatyne House. In 1596
James Bannatyne, son of Lord Bannatyne, was retoured heir to his father in
the lands of Kirkton of Newtyle, with the brew-house and teind-corn, and half
the barony of Balmaw.

Balmaw appears to have passed from the Bannatynes to a family named
Gray. On 9th June, 1643, Ann Gray, spouse of William Luke, notary in
Forfar, heir of William Gray, Sheriff Clerk of Forfarshire, was retoured (No.
281) in the fourth part of the town and lands of Balmaw—E. 255 4d. On
same date Jsabella and Euphemia Gray, heirs portioners of William Gray
above designed, were retoured (No.282) in said lands. On 5th January,
1671, William Gray, heir of John Gray, scribe in Forfar, his father, was re-
toured (No. 446) in part of the town and lands of Balmaw—E. 50s 84d, &c.,
Jeudifirme. On same day William Luke, scribe in Forfar, heir of Ann Gray,
his mother, was retoured (No. 447) in part of the said town and lands—E.
258 4d feudifirme. On 13th July, 1693, George Brown of Lidgertlaw, son
of the late Major Gteorge Brown of same, his grandfather, was retoured (No.
526) in a fourth part of the town and lands of Balmaw, and in the shadow
half of the same town and lands, &e.—E. £7 12s, &c., feudifirme.

Balmaw, Bannatyne, the kirk lands of Newtyle, &c., &c., are now included
in the extensive estates of the Earl of Wharncliffe in Newtyle and Meigle.
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Bannatyne or Ballantyne House, which stands a little to the west of the
church, belonged to the Bannatynes, and it was built abont 1589, a contract
of that date being extant. (M. of A.and M,, 19.) It isin the castellated
style, and still in excellent preservation. Some years ago an addition was
made to the old house.

In 1568 a pestilence broke out in Edinburgh which carried off many of the
citizens. A young man named George Bannatyne then lived in the city. He
was well acquainted with the poetical writings of Dunbar, Douglas, Mont-~
gomery, and other poets, which he had read in manuscript, as few such pro-
ductions were printed in those days. He was himself addicted to writing
poetry, and gave some part of his time to the Muses. At that terrible period
every one was anxious about his own safety, and young Bannatyne left the
city, and went into retirement in Bannatyne House. ~ There he shut himself
up, and devoted himself for three months to transcribing the fugitive pro-
ductions of his rhyming predecessors into a goodly volume.  This local story
may be groundless.

During that period he copied,in a good hand, from the imperfect manu-
scripts he possessed, three hundred and seventy-two poems, which filled eight
hundred folio pages. This great task and Jabour brought him fame in his
day, and he will have the gratitude of his countrymen for ages to come. The
volume, called the BANNATYNE MANUSCRIPT, still exists in the Advocates’
Library in Edinburgh, and it is a venerable and venerated manuscript. A
turret on the north-east corner of the house is pointed out as the small room
in which he wrote his, now, historical volume.

The lands of Davidston were in possession of the Scrymgeours of Dudhope
in the early part of the 16th century, if not in the end of the 15th century.
On 15th April, 1552, Sir John gave to John Middleton of Kirkhill and
Isobel Falconer, his spouse, a charter of the lands of Davidston and other
lands in Forfarshire (Doug. II., p.230). Probably Couston had been included
in that charter, as they are united in the next notice we have seen, vizt.:—Qn
10th May, 1591, Gilbert, third son of Patrick, sixth Lord Gray, had a charter
of the lands of Couston and Davidston (Do. 1., 671). On 6th December, 1592
James, second son of Lord Gray, and brother of Gilbert, had a charter of both
these properties.

On 23d August, 1600, William Brough, heir of his father, William Brough
of Wester Davidston, was retoured (No. 19) in these lands in the lordship of

New Tibber and barony of Dundee. On 25th April, 1643, James, Viscount
F
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of Dudhope, Lord Scrymgeour, was served heir (No. 280) to his father
Viscount John, in the barony of Newtibber, including the towns of Couston
Davidston, and Pitnappie, and mill of Millhole. On 4th November, 1644,
John, Viscount of Dudhope, heir male of Viscount James, his father, was re-
toured (287) in same lands, and others.

On 28th April, 1643, Patrick, Lord Oliphant, heir of John, Master of Oli-
phant, his father, was retoured (No. 609) in the town and lands of Pitnappie,
in the barony of Newtibber—E. 125, N.E. 48s.

On 14th May, 1667, David Halyburton of Pitcur, heir of his father James,
was retoured (No. 427), in the lands of Couston, Davidston, Pitnappie,
and mill and Millhole, and other lands. On 22d October, 1672, David
Hallyburton was served heir to his father (No. 457) in same lands. On 25th
October, 1681, David Halyburton was again retoured (487) in same Jands.

The Halyburtons had sold the lands shortly thereafter to the Mackenzies of
Rosehaugh. On 22d October, 1691, George Mackenzie of Rosehaugh, heir of
Greorge Mackenzie of Rosehaugh, his father, was retoured (No. 519) in the
lands of Couston, Davidston, Pitnappie, &c.

On 26th January, 1699, Francis Drummond, heir of his father, David, was
retoured (No. 551) in the lands of Wester Couston or Davidston, in the barony
of Newtibber—E. £10, &c., feudifirmee.

Couston subsequently came into possession of William Bruce, who owned it
in 1822; thereafter of Mrs Knight. The estate was afterwards acquired by
the late Andrew Whitton, who died 14th May, 1861, aged 68 years. This
family have been long resident in the district, a tombstone to the memory of
Andrew Whitton, one of his ancestors, dated 1730, being in Newtyle church-
yard. Couston, together with Scotston, in the parish of Auchterhouse, is now
the property of Andrew Whitton, who is local factor for the Earl of Wharn-
cliffe. Andrew appears to be a favourite Christian name in the family, as
several of the members have borne if.

The late Andrew Whitton of Couston, in the parishes of Auchterhouse and
Newtyle, married Agnes, daughter of the late James Arnot, Ingliston, parish
of Kinnettles, by whom he had Andrew Whitton of Couston, born 1838. In
1864, he married Elizabeth, eldest daughter of Patrick Webster of Westfield
and Flemington, and has a son, Andrew, born 1867, and other issue. He
was educated at Dundee, then at St Andrews, and he is a Justice of Peace and
a Commissioner of Supply for the county of Forfar.

The lands of Davidston came into possession of the Kirk Session of Dundee,
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who held them for some time. They were subsequently acquired by Patrick
Miller. The estate is now the property of Robert Millar of Davidston, who
resides at Mains Cottage, Dollar, Stirling.

We have already given some details of the proprietary history of the lands
of Keillor in the chapters on Eassie and Nevay, and will here only
mention the following details. Easter Keillor came into possession of the
family of Haldane, as we formerly stated. On 6th June, 1645, Susanna
Halden, heir of Alexander Halden, portioner of Easter Keillor, her brother,
was retoured (No. 288) in the lands of Easter Keillor, adjoining the inrig in
the barony of Eassie—A.E. 16s 8d, N.E. £3 6s 8d.

On 8th January, 1648, James Halyburton of Keillor, heir of George of
Keillor, his father, who was killed at the battle of Tippermuir, was retoured
(No. 298) in the lands of Wester Keillor, with the mill and pendicle called
the Hill of Keillor and Denside—A.E. £5, N.E. £20 ; half the town and lands
of Easter Keillor, in the barony of Linlathen—A.E. 16s 8d, N.E. ,‘23 6s 8d
and an annual from the lands of Faster and Wester Keillor.

On 29th October, 1695, John, Earl of Strathmore and Kinghorne, heir of
Earl Patrick, his father, was retoured (No. 446) in the lands of Keillor and
many others. Robert IIIL. gave to Walter Ogilvy a charter of the lands of Easter
Keillor, whilk John Barclay of Keppo resigned (In. to Ch. 143-94). The
Ogilvys retained possession of these lands for some time.

The Castle of Balcraig, of which vestiges were visible when the first Statis-
tical Account was written, stood at a short distance south of Hatton Castle,
but all traces of it have now disappeared. Near to Auchtertyre is the Crew
Well, adjoining which are the remains of a small camp of square form, said to
have been formed by the Marquis of Montrose, as related above,

In the north-west of the parish is Graham’s Knowe, probably so named from
some association connected with Montrose ; and the King’s Well, probably so
called because Macbeth, in his flight from Dunsinane, may have drank out of
it, as we may well suppose his flight and anxiety would make him thirsty.

The Templeton, to the east of Newtyle, no doubt takes its name from some
connection the Knights Templars had had with the land in early times. In
the beginning of last century the Bishop of Aberdeen lived for some time in
Hatton Castle, and exerted himself to uphold Prelacy. In the “’15” the
church was shut against the Presbyterian minister, and the soldiers forced him
to “abscond ” for a time.

In 1790-1 the arable land, about 1600 acres, was divided into fifteen large
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farms 4nd six small ones. The average rent of the best of it was 17s 6d to
920s, and the inferior land 10s to 12s per acre.  There were then 59 ploughs
and 106 carts in the parish. Little wheat was grown. Butcher meat of all
sorts was sold at from threepence to fourpence per pound; fowls, one shilling
to one shilling and fourpence each ; butter, eightpence to ninepence per pound ;
and eggs, fourpence per dozen. These rates are nearly three times as much
as the same articles brought a quarter of a century previously. The wages of
labourers were sixpence in. winter and eightpence in summer, besides their
victual ; wrights, eightpence in winter and one shilling in summer, with pro-
visions ; masons, twenty pence in summer, without provisions ; male servants,
from seven to ten pounds per annum ; and female servants, about three pounds.
The wages of servants were then nearly four times as much as they had been about
1760, and yet the Statistical Account of the parish says ‘ the servants saved no
more money then than formerly, owing chiefly to their extravagance in dress.”

Although the wages of servants at the present time are from three to four
times the rates paid in 1790-1, it is doubtful whether very many of them save
more now than the same classes did then, owing chiefly to the same cause—
their extravagance in dress. There was a great scarcity of provisions in 1782-3,
and many suffered severe privations.  Coarse flour and bran mixed was their
only bread.

Newtyle was favoured with railway communication at an early period.
The line between Dundee and Newtyle was the pioneer of the system in
Scotland. The line was projected in the first half of the third decade of the
century, and operations were commenced with its formation at both ends in
1826. It was opened in 1832, was about 104 miles in length, and cost about
£100,000. It was a single line of rails, had three steep inclines, wrought by
stationary engines, the trains being dragged up each by wire ropes wound
round a large drum, which was unwound by the descending frain. The first
of these was at the Dundee end, the second in the centre, both being required
to take the trains to the summit level from the south. The third was at the
village of Newtyle, the northern termination of the original line. For some
years the two intermediate distances between the inclines were wrought by
horse haulage, but this primitive mode was supplanted by the steam horse. A
railway is still carried from Dundee to, and beyond, Newtyle, but the route
has been nearly all changed, and the stationary engines and inclined planes
are things of the past.

The projectors of the original line began a village at the northern terminus,
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The parish has been called Oathlaw from about the beginning of the seven-
teenth century, and the church has been in same locality since that period. Tt
is supposed that Oathlaw had been a chapel dependent upon Finhaven, and
that when the old church at Finhaven fell into decay it became the parish
church.

The new Statistical Account of the parish says, ¢ the old name is evidently
compounded of two Guaelic words, Fin, signifying white or clear, and Avon or
Awven, a water or river. TFinhaven would therefore mean clear river. Headrick,
p- 185, says the parish derives its present name from an artificial mount in it,
Oathlaw, or Hill of Oaths.

In 1742 Mr Dick of Pitkerro presented to the parish a handsome silver
basin for baptisms, weighing upwards of twenty ounces, which is still preserved
and used when occasion requires it.

The parish was in the Presbytery of Brechin, but in 1731 it was disjoined
from Brechin, and annexed to the Presbytery of Forfar. The present church,
standing on an elevated site, is a more pleasing structure than many of the
parish churches in Angus, it being a prefty Gothic building with a square
tower. It was built in 1815, and a few fine old trees, which surround the
church and graveyard, improve the appearance of the establishment.

The parish is to some extent bounded by the South Esk on the north, Tanna-
dice being on the opposite side of that river, on the east by Aberlemno, by
Rescobie and Aberlemno on the south, and by Kirriemuir on the west. It
is about six miles in length from east to west, and from two to three miles in
breadth from north to south. It contains 5317'646 acres, of which 43-716 are
water.

The soil of Oathlaw is generally of a clayey nature, and, as it is retentive of
moisture, the climate in the early part of the century was very moist, as much
stagnant water lay on many parts of the level plain. For several years past
the land has been thoroughly drained, the water runs off quickly, the climate
is now salubrious, and the soil much more productive than it formerly was.
Excellent crops of cereals are now grown, and the cultivation is carefully
attended to by the intelligent body of farmers who occupy the land.

The greater part of the parish lies low, and the surface is level, like Carse land,
The northern slope of Finhaven Hills are included in the parish, but outwith
these there is no prominent eminence in it. In consequence of the land lying
so low, embankments are necessary against the encroachments of the South
Tsk, which inundates some places in high floods. The small rivulet of the
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Lemno rises in Aberlemno, on the south side of the Hill of Finhaven; and,
after winding round this hill, it falls into the South Esk at Finhaven, within a
mile north of its fountain head, after having made a circuit of tully twelve
miles.

The vitrified fort on the Hill of Finhaven has already been described, Vol.
L, p. 43-46. From the fort the two fortresses on the Caterthun Hills are dis-
trinctly seen lying to the north-east. To the west, Denoon Hill, an outlying
spur of the Sidlaws, with its strong fort ; and to the north-west of it, the strong
fort on Barry Hill, in the parish of Alyth, are both quite visible. These
fortresses could therefore communicate by signal with each other, and act in
concert for their mutual defence. From this we may assume that the ancient
Britons or Caledonians, long before the Roman period, were united under some
form of government, which, when occasion required, directed the combined
energies of the people into one focus for the common good. Probably the go-
vernment was tribal, each with its own chief,one of whom,renowned in arms and
wise in council, would be chosen from among them, and elevated above all the
others, and acknowledged by the confederated clans as the Great Chieftain, the
Leader of the Warriors, or some other common title such as President, King,
or Emperor of modern times.

A Brechin gentleman who visited the Iill of Finhaven in 1812, and again
in 1846, “ says the prettiest part of the vitrified stones had been removed in the
interval, but vitrification was still to be found round all the walls at different
depths. The vitrification generally goes down the centre of the wall from the
top, leaving the loose stones to slope off on each side to the base, but the vitri-
fication terminates at different depths, and does not reach the base. The
stones of the walls are principally small, flat free stones. ~ Though the site of
the fort was examined very minutely, no charcoal could be found, but in some
of the vitrified stones a black substance like animal matter was found, having
the appearance of snuff.  The greatest curiosity at Finhaven is the well on
the west side of the ring, of great depth, funnel-shaped, with walls rising
higher than those of the ring (or oval) itself, and separated from the ring by
a wall, The well then, for clearly in the centre there had been, and is, a well
of water, is no volcano, as some people assert it to have been, though there is
not the slightest vestige of pumice-stone or anything of a volcanic nature to
warrant so groundless an assertion.”

The great Roman fortress, called the Camp of Battledykes, is in the north-
western district of the parish.  The site is the sloping bank of the Lemno,
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fully two miles distant from the parish church. It was about 2970 feet in
length by about 1800 feet in breadth, the space embraced within the entrench-
ments being about eighty acres in extent. The constant demand for food has
led to the utilization of the ground, and scarcely a vestige of the camp can
now be distinguished, the spade and the plough having torn down the ram-
parts and deposited them in the ditch, thus obliterating the entrenchments
and levelling the land. Until a comparafively recent period the pratorium
was visible, but it would now require a veritable Jonathan Oldbuck to point
out any of the outlines of this once famous camp. From the camp the iter
lead eastward through the parish to a ford on the South Esk (the Esica of
Roman Geography), and onward to the camp of Warddykes, at Keithock, and
other camps further north. The camp at Battledykes was also in communication
with the camp at Ardoch and intermediate camps, by a Roman iter, which ex-
tended throughout the entire distance. ~These Roman roads have now all but
disappeared. In trenching and ploughing the camp some urns, a stone coffin,
and other ancient articles were found.

Some accounts of the Forest of Plater or Plantane and its Foresters have
been given in the chapter on Forests (Vol. L, p. 170), and although a large
part of the Forest was in this parish, we will not repeat it here.

King Robert Bruce gave a grant of the lands of Finhaven, and of the ad-
joining lands of Carsegownie, also the forfeited lands of Alexander of Aber-
nethy and of Roger de Mowbray, to his natural son, Sir Robert (In. to Ch.,
18-82). About two years thereafter the King gave a charter of the lands of
Finhaven to Hew Polayn (do., 23-2?).  The reason why his son had parted
with the estate so quickly is not known. He lived until 1332, when he was
slain at the unfortunate battle of Duplin, which was lost to King David II.
through the incompetency of the commander. The lands of Finhaven and
Forest of Plater appear to have come into possession of William, Earl of
Ross. He resigned them and the advocation of the kirk into the hands of
David II, and got a new infeftment of them from the King. 1Tn 1370 the
Earl made a free-will resignation of Finhaven and his other properties. They
thereafter came into possession of Sir David de Anandia (L. of L., 139).

King Robert II. granted the lands of Finhaven, with the office of Forester of
the Torest of Plater, on the resignation of Sir David de Anandia, to Alex-
ander de Lindsay. There are two entries of this charter in the Index, the first
said to have been granted in the fifth year of the King’s reign, 1375-6, and
the second in the fourth year of his reign. There may have been two charters
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granted. This very extensive and valuable property remained for many
generations in possession of the Lightsome Lindsays; but the longest day
has an end, and their light in Finhaven has been long extinguished.

Although the Lindsays acquired the lands of Finhaven in 1375-6, there is
no mention of their having any residence on the property till a later period.
Sir Alexander had his noble Castle of Edzell, and their magnificent palace in
Dundee, which then sufficed them for country and town dwellings. The builder
of the first Castle of Finhaven is not certainly known, but it is supposed to
have been built by David, the son of Sir Alexander, after he was ennobled.
The career of David, the first Earl of Crawford, was splendid and glorious,
though short, and it ended in Finhaven Castle, where he died in February,
1407, at the early age of forty-one years. His remains were buried in the
family vault in Dundee, beside his royal wife, the Princess Elizabeth, daughter
of King Robert II.

After this period the castle was the general country residence of the several
Earls and their families. To it Earl David was carried after receiving the
fatal wound at the Battle of Arbroath in January, 1445-6, and there he died.
There also was taken the wounded Ogilvy of Inverquharity, and there he was
smothered with a down pillow by his sister, the Countess of Crawford, to be
revenged upon him for the loss of her husband (Lives L, p. 130).

We gave an account of the noble family of the Lindsays, Earls of Crawford,
&c., Vol. I, p. 310-36. We will therefore pass over the successive possessors
of Finhaven until towards the closing scenes of the family history. It was to
the Castle of Finhaven Earl Beardie retreated after his defeat by the Earl of
Huntly at the Haercairns, near Brechin, in May, 1453. The events which
took place there at that time are related, Vol. L, p. 320. After King James
IL had pardoned the Earl and restored him to his estates and titles, he became
a steady adherent of the King. The scene described took place at the “ Rebel
Green,” about a mile west from the castle. After it was over there was great
feasting at the castle ; the King and his retinue partook of the hospitality of
the Earl, “ and were banqueted right magnificently.”” The Earl only survived
these scenes six months, and he was buried with great honours and show in
the family vault in Dundee.

The next occupant of the castle was David, the eldest son of the Tiger Earl,
and the greatest member of the house of Crawford. James III. exalted him
to the rank of Duke of Montrose, and he was the first Scottish subject not of
the royal family upon whom this rank was conferred. He lived in princely

@
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splendour at Finhaven, having his counsellors, squires, armour-bearers, cham-
berlains, chaplains, and a herald. His counsellors were some of the leading
lairds in Angus. Hewas a man of a different stamp from his father, being of a
peaceable disposition, and he discharged the duties of his high position with
honour and credit.  After a splendid career, he died in peace at his Castle of
Finhaven in 1495.

The Dukein his lifetime was much distressed at the bad conduet of his sons,
the elder of whom fell by the hand of the younger. Shortly thereafter the
son of the “ Wicked Master ” married a daughter of Cardinal Beaton, in the
Castle, in 1546. There was great feasting and revelry on the occasion. The
Cardinal was present, but a month thereafter he was assassinated.

After the death of the Duke of Montrose the fall of the family was rapid.
The Duke's youngest son succeeded to the Crawford title, and dissipated part
of the property. The “ Wicked Master,” who was a disgrace to the name, was
disinherited, and died a beggar in a drunken brawl in Dundee. The son of the
“ Wicked Master ” was reinstated in the estates and honours, but though he
got great wealth by marrying a daughter of Cardinal Beaton, he made a bad
use of it. He was succeeded by his son David, who was ¢“a princely man, but
a sad spendthrift.” His son was called the Prodigal Earl. To arrest his im-
provident proceedings he was imprisoned, and died in Edinburgh Castle in
1621, leaving an only child, who lived latterly by mendicancy.

It appears that members of the Lindsays of Balcarres possessed part of the
Lindsay’s lands in this parish in the latter part of the 16th and early part of
the 17th centuries. ~David Lindsay of Balcarres was, on 19th May,
1601, served heir (No. 20) of Mr John Lindsay of Balcarres, Rector of Men-
muir, in the lands of Haugh of Finhaven, in the barony of the Forest of
Plater.

On 19th February, 1606, David Lindsay of Balgavies was served heir (No.
49) of Lord (Sir) Walter Lindsay, Bart., his father, in the Cunyngair lands,
called Debateable lands ; lands of Westhaugh ; outfield faulds, with moor and
crofts adjacent; lands of Little Marcus, formerly called Cottar Lands of
Haugh, and lands called Cuningair, lands of Finhaven.

The estates of the Lindsays were heavily burdened, and in 1625 Alexander,
second Lord Spynie, bought them. On 22d January, 1631, he had a charter
of the barony ot Finhaven and the Forest of Platane.

George, Lord Spynie, sold the lands and barony of Finhaven to his brother-
in-law, the Earl of Kinnoul. He sold them to David, second Earl of North-



Caar. L.] ANGUS IN PARISHES.—OATHLAW. 51

esk, who, soon thereafter, gave them to the Hon. James Carnegie, his second
son, who was infeft in them on 22d May, 1672.

On 12th June, 1646, George, Lord Spynie, heir of Alexander, his father,
was retoured (No. 290) in the barony of Finhaven, comprehending the lands
of Auchterallone, Tillibrollok, Cultnatielt, and Newpark— A.E. £6, N.E. £24;
40m. annual redditus of customs of Montrose ; annaal redditum 100m. of the
great customs of the burgh of Dundee, with advocation of 5 chaplainries, St
Greorge Martyr, and Chapel of All Saints, founded in the parochial Church of
Dundee, with right of burial in said church—A.E. 3s 4d, N.E. 13s 4d, all
united in the barony of Finhaven ; lands and barony of Forest of Platane—
A.E. £40, N. E. £160 ; half the lands of the barony of Clova—A.E. £5, N.E.
£20 ; superiority of Leckoway and half the lands of Ingliston of Kinnettles—
AE. £4, N.E. £16.

On 27th November, 1613, Gilbert Watson, burgess of Dundee, heir of
Robert Watson, sailor and burgess of same, his father, was retoured (No. 604)
in the lands of Bogiewilk, in the barony of Forest of Platane—A.T. 20s, N.E.
£4. On 23d June, 1618, William Fullerton of that ilk, heir of Sir William,
his father, was retoured (103) in the third part of the lands of Windyedge and
Navel Green, in the barony of Finhaven. There are no lands in the Finhaven
estate with the names in the last two retours, but they are probably included
in it under other names.

James Carnegie obtained a Crown charter erecting Finhaven into a barony on
12th February, 1676. He wasa Member of the Parliament of 1703, and opposed
the Union. He died on 10th March, 1707. He transformed the castle,
greatly curtailing the size of the grand old building, and reconstructed the
building to pake it suitable as a mansion for the estate of Finhaven. Ochter-
lony says it was then, in its altered state, “ a most excellent house ; fine rooms,
good furniture, good yards, excellent planting, and enclosures, and avenues.”

It is the remains or skeleton of this altered house or castle which now stand
by the side of the Lemno, ncar where it becomes lost in the South Esk. The
fine rooms have disappeared, and so have the avenues, and the walls of the
ruin alone remain—Ilofty, roofless, bald, gaunt, and bare.

Charles Carnegie, the son of James, succeeded to the estate of Finhaven on
the death of his father, and was served heir to him on 12th February, 1708.
He conveyed the estate to his brother James, on 11th June, 1710, who was
infeft in the barony on 26th July, 1710.

James Carnegie was for some time a strong adherent of the Stuarts, and
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admitted to the confidence of their supporters. He was present at the Battle
of Sheriffmuir in 1715, and, as was commonly reported, fled from the
field, having been bribed by the Hanoverians. An old ballad says he got one
hundred and fifty pounds sterling to desert the cause of the Pretender and
espouse that of the first George. It was he who killed the Earl of Strathmore
in the brawl at Forfar on 9th May, 1728. The quarrel arose out of the taunts
thrown out by Lyon of Brigton about his conduct towards the Chévalier and
hig friends (Vol. II., p. 390).

He died in 1765, and was succeeded by his son, James, third of Finhaven,
who was served heir to his father on 18th September, 1765. He obtained a
Crown charter of the barony on 24th February, 1766, and died &t Lisbon in
1777.  His sister, Barbara, succeeded to Finhaven, and was married to Sir
Robert Douglas of Glenbervie, Baronet, in 1778. Their only son, Robert,
predeceased his father in 1780.  In 1779 she sold the barony to the Earl of
Aboyne in order to pay the claims of her brother's creditors. Sir Robert
Douglas was son of the author of the Peerage and Baronage of Scotland.

The Earl of Aboyne, in 1781, resigned the estate of Finhaven in favour of
his son by his second wife, the Hon. Douglas Gordon Halyburton, who was
Member of Parliament for the county from 1832 till 1847. In 1804 he sold
the lands of Finhaven to James Ford, a mannfacturer in Montrose. While
he possessed the property he improved it greatly by draining the land and
carrying off the stagnant water, reclaiming waste land, and otherwise. He
made a search for coal, and put down a boring to the depth of 160 feet, but
found none. The water rushed up the boring in a copious stream with con-
siderable force, which drew many visitors from curiosity to see it; but the
boring being in the middle of a field, the farmer had the water conducted into
a drain and hidden, to prevent his crops from being trampled down. It was
an artesian well, and may still be throwing up a large and abundant jet of
water. Through the boring a seam of excellent freestone was discovered on
the estate of Newbarns, which was of value to the proprietor as the district
was previously ill supplied with building stones.

Ford’s circumstances became embarrassed, and the estate of Finhaven was
exposed to public sale in 1817, and bought by the Marquis of Huntly, then
Lord Aboyne, the price being £65,000. His father, the Earl of Aboyne,
hought the estate in 1779 for £39,000, being an increase in the value of
£26,000 in 38 years. The affairs of the Marquis also became embarrassed,
and in 1843 the estate was sold by his trustees to those of Thomas Gardyne of
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Middleton. In virtue of his testamentary deed the estate of Finhaven went to
his maternal nephew, James Carnegie Gardyne, W.S. He was succeeded by
his cousin,

David Greenhill-Gardyne of Glenforsa, in Argyleshire, who in 1864 assumed
the name of Gardyne under the will of Thomas Gardyne of Gardyne on suc-
ceeding as heir of entail to the estate of Finhaven and Noranside. He married
Mary, daughter of C. Wallace, R.A., of Woodside, and by her had Charles
Greenhill-Gardyne, born 1831, who succeeded to Finhaven, &c., on the death
of his father, David, who died in 1867, aged 72 years. David Greenhill was
the son of Charles Greenhill of Fern and his wife, Clemintina Gardyne of
Middleton. He was a district judge in the Hon. I.I.C. Service.

His son Charles was educated at Edinburgh, was an officer in the Coldstream
Guards, is Lieut.-Col. retired, and a J.P. and D.L. for Argyle and Forfar
shires. In 1858 he married the Hon. Amelia Anne Drummond, daughter of
William, 9th Viscount Strathallan, and by her has Norman Charles, born
1863, and other issue. The present mansion of Finhaven was erected by this
family. '

Throughout 1697 protracted legal proceedings were carried on before the
Privy Council between Blair of Balthayock and Carnegie of Finhaven, in con-
sequence of Carnegie having brought on a marriage between his daughter and
his pupil, Blair of Kinfauns, a young minor. Finhaven was fined one hundred
and fifty pounds, to be paid to Balthayock for his expenses in the case. On
20th September, 1703, after the death of Balthayock, Carnegie presented a
petition to the Privy Council stating that he had not submitted to the sentence,
but had placed the fine in consignment, and thereupon was liberated. Bal-
thayock had never called for the suspension ; Her Majesty’s late gracious in-
demnity had discharged the fine, the cause of which, he alleged, was natural
and ordinary, and the marriage every way suitable. There might be demur
to the last particular, as young Kinfauns, when led into the marriage with
Carnegie’s daughter, was only a boy. Nevertheless, the Council now ordained
the money to be rendered back to the petitioner.

The estate of Auchinday at one time belonged to the Hon. Thomas Lyon,
a cadet of the noble house of Glamis. After passing through some hands, it
was purchased by Robert Wilkie, who was a merchant in Montrose. He did
not like the old name of the property, and changed it to that of Newbarns, by
which it has since been known. He died on 7th January, 1837, leaving the
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lands to his son, James, who was a Major in the H.E.I.C., and for some time
held the lucrative appointment of army clothier. ~Major Wilkie left a son,
who died young, and two daughters. About ten years ago the property was
purchassd by George Duke, a linen manufacturer in Kirriemuir, who con-
tinues to possess the estate, and it is farmed by him and his son.

A small part of the Carsegray estate is in this parish. The following
services of heirs show the proprietors of the property in the first half of the
17th century.  On 20th October, 1621, John Rynd of Cars was served heir
(No. 135) to his grandfather, William Rynd of Cars, in the lands of Craig-
head ; Parkyett, with mill called the Ward Mill ; lands of Bow, in the barony
of Finhaven, and other lands.

On 6th January, 1638, Alexander Rynd, heir of William Rynd of Carse,
his grandfather, was retoured (No 240) in the lands of Craighead; Parkyett,
with mill called the Ward Mill ; lands of Bow, in the barony of Finhaven and
Forest of Platane—A.E. £3 10s, N.E. £14. He was also served heir to his
father, John Rynd, on same day, in the town and lands of Carseburn—E.
5m.; and in the town and lands of Myreside—E. 40s.

On 13th October, 1670, David, son of Alexander Guthrie of Carsebank, was
retoured (No. 444) in the lands of Craighead ; tenandry and superiority of the
town and lands of Carsegownie ; and lands of Easter Muirston, in the barony
of Finhaven—A.E. 40s, N.E. £8.

The present proprietor of the estate of Carsegray is Charles William
Gray.

Besides the estates already mentioned, there are the following lands in the
parish : —Bankhead estate, the property of Col. John Grant Kinloch (it is a
good farm); Couttston, a small property belonging to James Alexander
Webster Coutts, writer in Edinburgh ; Drumclune and Easter Garlowbanlk,
the property of Miss Sophia Georgina Lyell, Shielhill ; Wester Garlowbank
farm, belonging to the trustees of Charles Lyell of Kinnordy; and small
portions of the Tannadice estate, the property of William Neish.

In the Valuation Roll of 1683 the lands were possessed by four proprietors,
vizt. :—(1) ¢ Earl of Strathmore,” £200; (2) ¢ Fineven,” £1650 ; (3) “ Badie
Turnbull,” £233 6s 8d ; (4) *“ Carsebank,” £50; in all, £2133 6s8d. The first,
Newbarns and part of Shielhill, was, on 16th June, 1766, divided thus:—
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female servants, £1 10s and maintenance ; and day labourers, 21d and victuals,
Oatmeal was then 8s to 10s 6d, and in 1792, 125 to 14s per boll. The names
of the farms in 1740-60—Birkenbush, Forest Seat, King’s Seat, Wolf Law,
&c.—show traces of the forest of which the parish was part. In 1684 the
whole parish belonged to Lord Spynie.

Cuar. LL—PANBRIDE.

The Church of Panbride was one of those granted to the Abbey of Arbroath
by King William the Lion. The King confirmed the gift, 1211-1214 (Reg.
de Aberb., p. 5). The gift was-also confirmed by Ade de Morham in 1214,
and again by John de Morham, who had been the King’s clerk or chaplain,
1219-1246 (do., pp. 19-20). The church was a vicarage belonging to the
Cathedral of Brechin, In the Old Taxation of 1275 it is rated at £11 Scots
(do., p. 240). The church was dedicated to . Bride or 8. Bridget, as the
name of the parish implies, but whether the patron saint may have been a
Scottish saint, or the Irish saint of that name who came from Ireland with
her nine virgins, we cannot say, but we think she had been that famous Irish
saint. At one period the Irish and Scottish historians used to dispute about
the nationality of this saint, and Irish writers charged the Scottish historians
with pilfering the Irish saints.

S. Bride was the patron saint of the historic family of Douglas, and we
think she had also been the patron saint of the ancient family of Valoniis, who
in early times possessed the barony of Panmure, including the parish of Pan-
bride. This family also possessed the lands of East Kilbride, in the parish of
that name, in the Middle Ward of Lanarkshire, in the twelfth century. 8.
Bride was also the patron saint of that church, and very probably of the Lord
of the Manors of Kilbride and Panbride, or Balbride, as it was sometimes
called.

The parish of Panbride is bounded by Carmylie on the north, by Arbirlot
and a detached part of St Vigeans on the north-east and east, by Monikie on
the west, by Barry on the south-west, and the German Ocean on the south-
east. In figure it is the small segment of a flat ring, the convex side turned
to the south-west. From north to south-east it is nearly five miles in length,
and two miles in mean breadth. It contains 5506068 acres, of which 9:089
are water, and 298476 are foreshore. The coast, which extends fully two
miles, is flat and rocky. The ground rises with a gentle slope to the north.
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About three-fourths of the area is arable, and it produces rich crops. Two
streams from Monikie flow through the parish, in some parts through deep
rocky dells, and fall into the ocean. The parish is in some parts clothed with
plantations, and it is throughout nearly its whole extent very beautiful, and
some parts are picturesque.

William, Chaplain of Pannebrid, was a witness to the confirmation charter
of Ade Morham of the Church of Panbride to the Abbey of Arbroath in 1214,
‘William, Vicar of Panbryd, was a witness of a charter of Richard Berkelay in
1245 (Reg. de Aber., pp. 21 and 200).

In a letter to the forfeited Earl James by Lady Panmure, his wife, written
in June following, she says:—* Presbyterian ministers are preaching at Pan-
bride and Monikie every Sunday, but no minister is yet placed.” Of the
deposed Mr Maule, she says, “ he dare seldom stay in his own house, there
being often parties from Dundee searching for him and other ministers who
read the proclamation, for which a great deal are imprisoned.”

It appears from the MS. books of the York Building Company that there
was neither a school nor a schoolhouse at Panbride in 1729.

There is a tradition regarding Farl James which we now give to show the
miserable position to which the adherents of the Stuarts, who took up arms in
support of the Chevalier, were reduced. Earl James, with a goodly muster of
his clansmen, and his brother, Harry Maule of Kelly, were at Sheriffmuir.
The Earl was taken prisoner, but was rescued by the brave Harry, and escaped
from the field. The first report was that the Earl was slain. One day, shortly
after the battle, Countess Margaret was walkipg on the green to the west of the
house, her man-servant beside her. They saw a man in the distance approach-
ing them. 'When he came near he was attired as a beggar. The Countess
said to her man-servant, “ Tack in that poor beggar man and give him a gude
alms.” He took him in and did as he was bid, and they kept him hid under
the great staircase till a ship was got ready to take him to France. The
beggar man was the Earl, and he was soon recognised by his loving wife. The
hiding place of the Earl is still to be seen in Panmure House.

It was an anxious time for the Countess while the Earl was hid in the
house, as she was in constant dread of his hiding place being discovered, and
the Earl taken prisoner. When the ship was ready, she conveyed her lord to
nearly the east gate of the grounds, and there they parted, after all was lost.
It must have been a sad pirting to both the Earl and the Countess. She

caused a terrace mound to be raised on the spot, with an urn on the top, to
H
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commemorate the parting, which remains to this day. Sixty years ago it was
called Douglas Mount, but it is now known as Margaret’s Mount, and it is
seen from Panmure House.

The story of the Earl’s home coming is from an old woman, who lives at the
Newbigging, and is a descendant of the Countess’ man-servant, named Fairlie.
The Fairlies were long crofters at Guildie. One of them has a farm at Kirkton
of Monikie, and others of them have farms. "

The Countess appears to have visited the Earl in France. On her return to
London, she wrote the Earl, on 31st December, 1719, saying she and Mr
Maule had been robbed ten miles from London, on her return from Paris.
She had five guineas and Mr Maule ten. These were taken from them by two
highwaymen, one on each window, with pistols cocked ; but she had sent her
watch with a gentleman who went post that morning from Dover. Mr Maule
lost his watch, sword, and pistols.

Margaret, Countess of Panmure, was the youngest daughter of William,
Duke of Hamilton, and Anne, his Duchess. She was gifted with business
talents of no ordinary kind. ~ After the escape of the Earl to France, she
generally resided at Panmure. She was permitted to use the house and part
of the grounds, andshe corresponded regularly with her husband, and gave
him the best cheer she could in the unfortunate circumstances in which they
were then placed.

¢« After all was over and the Earl away, Countess Margaret set to work with
her maidens, and span for the siller with which she bought the barony of
Redcastle, which she left to Harry Maule of Kelly, or his son, thus doing her
best to redeem the fallen fortunes of the Panmure family.” So writes the old
gardener to the author. The Countess purchased Redcastle estate in 1724,
and it still forms part of the Panmure'estate.

The Earl died on Thursday, 22d April, 1723. The Countess long survived
the Earl, and afterwards became one of the leaders of fashion in Edinburgh.
See Vol. L., p. 402, for further details regarding the Countess. ~She died in
1731.

The ancient name of Panbride was Ballinbride, shortened by Buchanan into
Balbride, by which name it is sometimes mentioned prior to the 15th century,
which signifies St Bride’s town or house. The prefix Pan is evidently a
transition from the Celtic word Ballin, Ba'n, Pan, Panbride. Tt has been
variously spelled Pannebrid, Panbryd, Panbryde, Panbride, &c. In 1574,
Pambryde, Arbirlott, and Monikie were served by Charles Michelson, minister,
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who had a stipend of £100 Scots, and the kirklands; and Robert Mawll was
reidare of Panbryde, his salary being £16 Scots (Wod. Soc., p. 352).

A chapel dedicated to St Lawrence was founded at Boath, in the vicinity of
Pitlivie, at an early period. The place is sometimes called Fore Boath to dis-
tinguish it from the chapel in the parish of Carmylie, which is called Back
Boath.

Among the charters by David IL. mentioned in Index to Charters, 51-42, is
one “by the Bishop of Brechin of the Chapel of Bothe, and the lands of Carn-
corthie, by William Mauld of Panmore, to the Kirk of Brechine” The
King’s charter had been a confirmation of the charter by William Maule.

The lands of Bothe, afterwards called Back Boath, were at one time in the
parish of Inverkeillor, but they were cut off from that parish and added to
Carmylie at an early period of its parochial life. The lands are now included in
the great Panmure estate.

The chapel of S. Lawrence was united to Cairncorthie on 10th March,
1608, when David, Bishop of Brechin, appointed David Strachan to be
chaplane of the chaplanrie of Both and Caircorthie, with all the emoluments,
&c., belonging and pertaining thereto.

Among the vicars was John Sang, in 1566. Robert Ramsay succeeded
Charles Michelson as minister. In 1593 Andrew Drummond succeeded, and
he was, in 1679, followed by Patrick Maule, who was deposed for openly
favouring the cause of the Chevalier. Robert Trail, the first Presbyterian
minister, succeeded Mr Maule in 1717.

A monument of polished, Peterhead granite has recently been put up near
the east gate of the graveyard in memory of Rev. Robert Trail, who was
minister of Panbride from 1717 till 1762 ; Rev. Robert, his son, from 1763
till 1798 ; and of Rev. Robert Trail, son of William Trail of Borthwick, son of
first-mentioned Robert Trail. There are many gravestones in the burying-
ground, but when we visited it we were unfortunate in not seeing the minister
or the church officer, and did not get the stones inspected.

The old church had originally been a handsome building,and cruciform. The
windowshad beenof some considerable size andarchitectural beauty, butthey had
at some period been here and there lessened by mason work, and much deformed.
The church, from age, had become very uncomfortable in the interior, and the
walls and roof were so much decayed that it was found necessary to erect an
entire new one, of the same form, and on the same site, which was done in
1851 by the Hon. William Ramsay Maule, sole heritor of the parish.
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The new church, in the modern Elizabethan style, is in all respects a very
elegant and handsome building.  The site is a commanding one, and it is to
be regretted that no spire or tower has ever been added to the church. The
Right Hon. Fox Maule, a nobleman of great taste, frequently spoke of doing
50, and had he resided at Panmure House, would probably have carried out
his intention. :
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